

MS-831: Jack, Joseph and Morton Mandel Foundation Records, 1980–2008. Series C: Council for Initiatives in Jewish Education (CIJE). 1988–2003. Subseries 5: Communication, Publications, and Research Papers, 1991–2003.

Box	Folder
44	7

Lipset, Seymour Martin. The Power of Jewish Education, 1994.

For more information on this collection, please see the finding aid on the American Jewish Archives website.

3101 Clifton Ave, Cincinnati, Ohio 45220 513.487.3000 AmericanJewishArchives.org Wilstein Institute Research Report

THE POWER OF JEWISH EDUCATION

By Seymour Martin Lipset

WITH AN INTRODUCTION BY

Hanan A. Alexander



THE POWER OF JEWISH EDUCATION

By Seymour Martin Lipset

Institute of Public Policy George Mason University Wilstein Institute Senior Scholar

WITH AN INTRODUCTION BY

Hanan A. Alexander Vice President for Academic Affairs University of Judaism

Spring 1994



CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
Introduction	1
by Hanan A. Alexander	
The Power of Jewish Education	
by Seymour Martin Lipset	
I. INTRODUCTION	7
II. DETERMINANTS OF JEWISH EDUCATION FOR ADULT RESPONDENTS	10
III. THE CONSEQUENCES OF FORMAL JEWISH EDUCATION	17
IV. MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS OF THE ADULT RESPONDENTS	27
Data and Variables	27
Hypotheses	28
Methods	28
Results: Determinants	29
Consequences and Jewish Identity	30
Conclusion	31
V. THE EDUCATION OF THE YOUNG	34
VI. MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS OF YOUTH RESPONDENTS	47
Data and Variables	47
Hypotheses	47
Results: Determinants	48
The Future: College Students and the Campus	51
VII. CONCLUSION	55
AUTHOR'S BACKGROUND	58

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study of Jewish education in America was commissioned and funded by the Mandel Institute for the Advanced Study and Development of Jewish Education in Jerusalem. I am extremely grateful to Mort Mandel, its founder; Seymour Fox, its president; and Annette Hochstein, its director, for the confidence they exhibited in me as well as for useful advice. As will be evident to the reader, the analysis is largely based on the survey data collected by the 1990 National Jewish Population Survey financed by the Council of Jewish Federations and directed by Barry Kosmin. He and the Council have been extremely generous in making the data available. I am indebted to Dr. Kosmin for intellectual advice. I must also acknowledge with gratitude the cooperation of the Susan and David Wilstein Institute of Jewish Policy Studies and its director and associate director, David Gordis and Yoav Ben-Horin, and the Hoover Institution of Stanford University and its Director, John Raisian, both of which housed the project as part of their research program.

Finally, I could not have carried out the project without the assistance of three social scientists, much more conversant with statistical analysis than I am; Jeffrey Hayes, now at the University of Chicago, Mordicai Rimor of the Louis Guttman Institute for Applied Social Research in Jerusalem, and John Torres of the Hoover Institution and the sociology department at Stanford. As may be evident from the number of persons and institutions involved, translating data collected for Census type demographic reports for use in a standard survey type bivariate and multivariate analysis did not prove simple and produced a number of false starts.

I trust that this monograph will be of interest and use to scholars of American Jewry and ethnicity, and to practitioners dealing with Jewish educational policy.

Seymour Martin Lipset George Mason University June 1994

INTRODUCTION What is the Power of Jewish Education? Lipset's Analysis in Philosophical Perspective

Hanan A. Alexander

North American Jewish leaders have come to realize that the future of Jewish life on this continent is intimately intertwined with Jewish education. Beginning with the Commission on Jewish Continuity of the Cleveland Jewish Federation in the mid-nineteen eighties and culminating in a recently established continental continuity taskforce of the Council of Jewish Federations, the past decade has born witness to Jewish continuity commissions springing up throughout North America.

Stung by the alarming statistics of the 1990 National Jewish Population Study (NJPS) that suggest rampant assimilation especially in the form of intermarriage among Jews in the United States and, to a lesser degree, in Canada, these commissions are asking what can be done to limit or even reverse these trends. Invariably, they turn to what is loosely called "Jewish education" as one of the most essential ingredients of the solution.

Jewish Education: Chicken or Egg?

Seymour Martin Lipset's study documents the assumption that Jewish socialization of the young does in fact contribute to increased Jewish identification as they mature. Lipset provides an artful three-part analysis of the 1990 NJPS data as they pertain to the transformation of young Jews into identified Jewish adults.

First he examines the factors that influence the probability of a young person receiving "Jewish training." Second, through bivariate data and multivariate analysis he provides support for the claim that "the greater the exposure to Jewish learning, the more likely the recipient is to be involved in Jewish life." Finally, multiple regression is again used to support contingency table analysis concerning the determinants of Jewish education among the young. These include socio-economic status, geographic mobility, and religious observance, as well as denominational, familial, and regional background. The evidence, he concludes (p. 4), "is congruent with the hypothesis that Jewish education makes a difference."

Nevertheless, Lipset points out that, "these findings present us with the classic chicken and egg problem in trying to explain the role of religious education: To what extent do family religious commitments, which themselves might be a reflection of prior education, influence the strong linkages between Jewish education, Jewish identification and community involvement?" He goes on to note that ,"no definite conclusion is possible in the absence of longitudinal data . . . since the decision to educate or not reflects, in most cases, the degree of religiosity in the home." (p. 4)

One wonders, however, whether this "chicken and egg problem" is solely a product of insufficient data. Perhaps it is also a matter of conceptual rigor in conceiving of that which is to count as Jewish education. Lipset appears to have documented the power of Jewish *socialization* in this essay, but has he captured the power of Jewish *education*? I think so. But to see why we need to distinguish the concept of education from

Hanan A. Alexander, member of the Wilstein Institute's academic board, is Vice President for Academic Affairs and Associate Professor of Philosophy and Education at the University of Judaism. He also lectures on philosophy of education at the University of California at Los Angeles and is Editor-in-Chief of Religious Education, the Journal of the Religious Education Association and the Association of Professors and Researchers in Religious Education.

socialization, schooling, and training. Lipset uses these terms interchangeably. A look at the differences between them suggests a more complete understanding of the power of Jewish education.

Socialization

To be socialized into a group implies that a person has accepted its practices and beliefs as his or her own. Socialization entails initiation which is the offering and acceptance of membership. It is a minimalist concept in the sense that no understanding of the group's beliefs and practices or application of creative intelligence is required. One need not know anything to be socialized; one need only identify oneself with the socializing group. The term enculturation is similar in that it implies the acquisition of membership in a cultural group.

Viewed in this light we can see how the absence of systematic Jewish socialization will yield rampant assimilation. The social, economic, intellectual, and religious pressures for abandoning Jewish identification in North America are enormous. Under these circumstances, Jewish socialization is not automatic. It must be consciously cultivated. What is encouraging, even surprising, is that institutional efforts at initiating young Jews into Jewish life do correlate with increased identification.

Perhaps this is the power of socialization that is borne out by Lipset's analysis. But given the rapid rate of intermarriage and other indicators of rampant assimilation, is this weak form of socialization powerful enough to insure Jewish continuity? According to the evidence from the NJPS, Jewish socialization seems to make a difference, but is it a big enough difference?

Schooling

One institution commonly viewed as a socializing agent is the school. Indeed, much of the data that Lipset associates with Jewish socialization has to do with numbers of years respondents attended some sort of Jewish school. But schooling and socialization are not one and the same. To be schooled means that one has attended a school, but not that anything particular happened there.

If a school's aim is to socialize and a child's sojourn in that school has been successful, then the result of that particular dose of schooling will be that the child is socialized. There are at least two reasons, however, why it makes little sense to suppose that the aim of most of the Jewish schools attended by NJPS respondents was Jewish socialization, at least as defined above. First, many of the beliefs and practices taught in those schools were not beliefs and practices of the Jewish society into which the students of those schools were to be initiated. Instead, they usually called for degrees of religious commitment and ethnic solidarity that were not reflected in the adult societies sponsoring the schools.

Socialization is concerned with social reproduction. But the stated aim of most Jewish schools regardless of their ideological affiliations has not been to reproduce the anemic Jewish society that is reflected in the NJPS data. It has been rather to initiate youngsters into another, more committed Jewish community than in fact exists.

For most of this century, Jewish schools and the professionals who have been running them have been in the forefront of a battle against assimilation and for a more vibrant and energetic Jewish life on this continent. Their objective has been not to reproduce but to transform North American Jewish society. The tension between the society into which young Jews were being initiated and the one in which they and their parents were in fact living, along with the resulting limited resources, accounts for much of the failure of these schools to achieve that objective.

Lipset's analysis shows, however, that despite the failures and against overwhelming odds, these schools may have been more successful than had previously been supposed. For among those who have attended Jewish schools, there is a statistically significant group whose Jewish involvements are *intensifying*.

It may not be mere socialization that makes the difference, then, but Jewish schooling--a schooling that has sought to initiate children not into the existing adult Jewish society in North America but rather into a more dynamic one.

There is a second reason why it makes little sense to assume that Jewish schools have sought to socialize, at least in the weak sense in which I have used the term here. Rather than seeing themselves as agents of initiation, teachers have tended to assume Jewish identification on the part of students in order to transmit Jewish knowledge. If that transmission has not always been successful, it is in part because the prior issues of socialization and enculturation have not always been adequately addressed. It is difficult to transmit a culture, especially a highly literate one, to young people whose identification with the cultural group is tenuous.

This is one reason why continuity commissions have tended to turn their attention to what some have called "beyond the classroom education," including Israel trips, summer camps, youth groups, and family programming. Indeed, Lipset himself emphasizes his own "beyond the classroom" experience when he discusses the advantages of Hillel and informal Jewish programming on the college campus.

Some have even argued that synagogue supplemental schools should abandon any hope of transmitting Jewish knowledge in the few hours per week that they have and focus instead on community building and group identification, that is, on socialization and enculturation. Jewish knowledge should be left, according to this view, to those who are sufficiently committed to invest both the time and money necessary for a day-school education.

The difficulty with this view is that it mistakenly assumes that socialization and enculturation are not only necessary but also sufficient to ensure Jewish continuity. In a highly literate culture with deep religious and ethical roots and a sophisticated textual tradition, understanding of those roots and knowledge of that tradition are required to provide an enduring rationale for group affiliation. To compete in the open-market place of ideas in which life choices are made today, we will need not only to teach that Judaism and the Jewish people are worthy of loyalty, we will also need to explain why. For this, mere socialization will not suffice.

Those who argue that we should settle for socialization without knowledge as our primary means of inculcating Jewish loyalty tend to blame Jewish schools for intermarriage and assimilation rather than crediting them with the commitments of those who continue to identify as Jews. Lipset's analysis allows us to turn our attention to the successes of Jewish schooling rather than focusing solely on its failures. Although the discrepancy between the dynamic Jewish society advocated by the school and the more anemic one in which students live may account for those failures, the commitment of schooling to transmitting Jewish knowledge may well account for its successes.

Training

This is not to say that once issues of identification are addressed, the approaches to transmitting knowledge used in Jewish schools are satisfactory. On the contrary, too often our schools have sought to train youngsters to perform practices and recite beliefs rather than attempt to teach them to understand the reasons behind those practices and the dynamics of those beliefs.

Training, according to this view, involves enabling the learning of mechanical behaviors. Teaching, on the other hand, entails facilitating the learning of activities that require drawing conclusions or attributing meanings. A student can be trained to recite a *haftarah* for a bar mitzvah, for example, but he can also be taught to understand the Hebrew in which the prophet wrote and to appreciate the power of the message and the beauty of the poetry.

Of course, teaching sometimes requires training. Learning to understand the prophet, for example, depends upon a prior ability to recite the Hebrew correctly. But a Jewish initiation that merely trains will fail to provide its students with an intellectual and spiritual substance rich enough to sustain a meaningful Jewish existence across generations.

Even deeper problems arise, moreover, when training is emphasized at the expense of teaching, when instructional methods designed for rote learning are employed in matters calling for drawing conclusions or attributing meanings. In such cases, it is essential for students to acquire the ability to come to their own conclusions based on appropriate evidence, or to develop their own interpretations rooted in suitable hermeneutic traditions.

Training that imposes mechanized response under these circumstances undermines the exercise of independent intelligence and will on the part of the learner. This is morally problematic because the very possibility of ethical responsibility rests on the assumption of independent judgement and free will.

Such an emphasis on training to the exclusion of teaching is sometimes called indoctrination. There are those who argue that indoctrination is inevitable in any form of religious inculcation, indeed, in any social inculcation whatsoever. All societies impart beliefs and practices to children that do not call for independent judgement and free choice, it is argued. The question is not whether to indoctrinate but what to indoctrinate.

Within the Jewish community it is argued along these lines that the very source of our current predicament lies in the fact that young Jews have too many choices and that independent judgement is leading many to abandon Jewish life altogether. According to this view, the aim of our initiation efforts should not be to cultivate choice and independence; it should be to produce a singular result--Jewish identification. To accomplish this, training is required, not teaching.

There are several problems with this analysis. First, indoctrination is not inevitable. Although training is often required as a prerequisite for teaching, there is nothing inevitable about fostering mechanical behaviors in matters that call for conclusions and interpretations. Nothing forces us to train the bar mitzvah to recite the prophetic reading without teaching him to understand it. The latter may call for more effort, but it does not call for overturning any law of nature, society, or logic.

Second, indoctrination undermines the very possibility of moral instruction because it subverts the concepts of free will and ethical responsibility upon which such instruction is founded. This is contrary to the most fundamental of Jewish commitments. "Behold," wrote the Deuteronomist (30:16-20), "I have given you today life and goodness, death and evil. . . . choose life so that you may live, you and your descendants." Of what assistance could Jewish values be if, through the very process of transmission, we undermine our students' capacity for choosing to apply them? Or, to paraphrase Maimonides, of what use is the Torah, or the study of Torah, if people are not free to choose to follow it? It may not be accidental that the central text of the Jewish tradition is known as Torah--Teaching.

Third, young Jews undoubtedly leave the Jewish fold because they are faced with options unprecedented in Jewish history. Were options not available, they could not be exercised. But the challenge facing those concerned with Jewish continuity is not to restrict those choices through indoctrination. Opportunities in an open society will not be so readily restricted. One reason that some may opt out of the Jewish community is that they have not been prepared adequately to respond to criticisms of Jewish life or arguments in favor of other alternatives with which they may be presented. Beliefs and practices acquired by rote are often brittle and prone to crumble at the slightest critique. The challenge is to teach young people to choose wisely.

Education

Socialization, schooling, and training, then, may all be necessary for transmitting Jewish identification across the generations; but neither individually nor collectively are they sufficient to finish the job. This requires an outcome of teaching which is often called education.

Education like socialization involves initiation. But the group into which the persons educated are initiated share common knowledge and understanding on the one hand, and common values and practices on the other. Their knowledge and understanding are rooted in traditions of learning and scholarship that involve disciplined inquiry. Their values and practices are rooted in the group's shared knowledge and understanding, in its traditions of inquiry.

Among the most important aspects of any discipline of inquiry will be standards for distinguishing between good and bad practice of the discipline, and between proper and improper application of its conclusions; and among the most important values of any community committed to applying such a discipline according to proper standards will be the significance of the standards themselves. To be educated, according to this view, means coming to understand those standards and to value them.

In a community that shares an understanding of--and a commitment to--such standards, then, education is not a means to some external end in view. Being educated--understanding and valuing the standards of the community--is the end in view. It is the whole point of the community. Without those standards, the community would cease to exist. The standards define the community and being educated defines membership in it.

To the extent that those associated with a community of this sort are less well educated in its standards, therefore, they will feel more marginal within it. This is because they will in fact be more marginal to the extent that they have yet to understand or accept the community's most basic values. Such a community might be called a learning community because its very existence is based upon common teachings, the learning and valuing of which are central constituent elements of membership in it.

Education in such a community, then, is neither merely a chicken nor simply an egg of continuity; it is both the chicken and the egg rolled into one! Continuity of a learning community can never be the goal of education, because without education it literally makes no sense to speak of the community as such. Continuity is not the end of education in a learning community, therefore; rather, education is the end of continuity. The group seeks survival so that it can continue to learn its valued teaching.

The Jewish people, I submit, is such a community rooted in traditions of knowledge, understanding, value, and practice. It is a community that shares common standards, or more precisely, it is a community of communities that share overlapping standards in which subcommunities agree and disagree about which standards are most central to the Jewish people as a whole. It is a community that is heir to a common teaching which is valued above all else. We call that teaching Torah.

This is why socialization, schooling, and training will not in and of themselves suffice for the transmission of Jewish identification across the generations. Socialization, in the weak sense that I have used it here, provides the basic initiation process that makes membership possible but does not guarantee the transmission of sufficient cultural content to enable the initiate to appreciate the value of membership. Schools are mere institutional frameworks. Lipset's analysis shows that when used for educational purposes they can make a difference. But when the purposes of schooling are unclear their effect can be negative as well. And training is a valuable prerequisite for teaching, but when it is pursued at the expense of teaching, it can produce not only negative but also dangerous results.

It is only when socialization, schooling, and training are employed for education purposes that young people are initiated into learning communities. And it is the power of this concept that Lipset has in fact demonstrated empirically. For a close reading of the data suggests that as the clarity of purpose, commitment to Jewish learning, and dedication to Jewish life of the adult community in which a youngster is raised increase--so do the affiliation rates of their offspring.

When Jewish education--the study of the teachings of the Jewish people--is seen as an end and not a means, assimilation declines and affiliation increases. The power of Jewish education conceived in this way is that it is the entire point of Jewish existence; it tells the story of why the Jewish people must survive; it provides the mechanism for that survival; it is both the chicken and the egg.

Seymour Martin Lipset has done a great service in providing empirical support for this position. Its consequence, however, is that in order to survive on this continent, it is not only the initiation of young people into Jewish life that must be reformed, it is also the adult community into which they are to be initiated. Only when Jewish education becomes the center piece of North American Jewry will we feel its full power; only then will Jewish continuity on this continent be ensured.

THE POWER OF JEWISH EDUCATION

By Seymour Martin Lipset

I. INTRODUCTION

The unique aspects of American Jewry compared to other ethno-religious groups fall into five categories: religious behavior, income, demography, politics, and education--both religious and secular. The best effort to document their characteristics, the National Jewish Population Survey (NJPS) of 1990, yields information on all of these matters and much more. The report presented here, one of a series analyzing the NJPS data, focuses on education.

For the NJPS, 125,813 randomly selected persons were asked questions about their own religious preference and that of their household. Altogether, this method produced 2,441 completed interviews, giving information on 6,514 persons in those households. The NJPS sample was then selected from those identified as living in a Jewish household. Interviews were conducted with 2,134 households, providing information on 4,601 individuals. Roughly one-sixth of the respondents were not used for the purpose of this analysis, because their responses to various questions indicated that they did not consider themselves Jewish and currently belong to another religion. The Core Jewish Population (CJP) as defined by the demographers who conducted the survey includes Born Jews whose religion is Judaism (BJR), converts who are Jews by Choice (JBC), and born Jews who do not have a religious but a secular identification (JNR). In addition, 84 percent of the CJP had at least one Jewish parent. The data were then weighted through a process which involved using all of the original 125,813 screening interviews.¹ The analysis presented here is based on the weighted sample of the CJP.

A number of stereotypical observations about Jews are confirmed by the 1990 NJPS ²: Jews are, by far, more well-to-do than the population as a whole, and are politically much more liberal. They are also the best educated of any ethno-religious group. Educational achievement has been one of the great prides of American Jewry, and the survey data indicate that it is justified. Among all adults 18 years and over who identify themselves as Jewish in religious terms, just under a third--30 percent--do not have any college education, while just over 50 percent are college graduates. Almost half of these--24 percent--have gone beyond college to some form of post-graduate educated than religious Jews. Only 27 percent have not attended college. It is interesting to note that born Jews who have converted out and belong to other denominations (six percent of the enlarged sample), are less well educated. Over one-third have no college background. The picture is somewhat similar for persons who report Jewish parentage or descent, but were raised from birth in another religion.

¹ The background of the survey and a description of the sample is presented in Barry Kosmin, et al., *Highlights of the CJF 1990 National Jewish Population Survey* (New York: Council of Jewish Federations, 1991), pp. 1-6. See also Sidney Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry: Insights from the 1990 National Jewish Population Survey," in David Singer and Ruth Seldin, eds., *American Jewish Yearbook*, (New York and Philadelphia: The American Jewish Committee; The Jewish Publication Society, 1992), pp. 77-173.

² For a more comprehensive description of the current state and historical background of American Jewry, see Seymour Martin Lipset, "A Unique People in an Exceptional Country," in Lipset, ed., American Pluralism in the Jewish Community (New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 1990), pp. 3-29.

Other trends regarding marriage and family are also clear. Jews are less likely to marry and do so later than others with similar backgrounds; they have a lower birthrate than other groups in the population; and their rate of intermarriage is high and increasing steadily.3 Immigration apart, these behavioral traits mean that the Jewish population in America is likely to decline. At the extreme, one demographer predicts a near extinction in the not too distant future. The hope, suggested by earlier studies on intermarriage, that such behavior might actually add to the population, given conversions and Jewish identification of intermarried families, does not seem to be borne out by the 1990 survey. Fifty-nine percent of currently married households are both Jewish, six percent are conversionary households, and 35 percent are mixed-marriage households. Only one-sixth--17 percent--of intermarried Jews have a spouse who has converted. The mates of the rest have remained Gentiles. Since 1985, the majority, 57 percent, of Jews married non-Jews.⁴ This compares with 10 percent for those who mated before 1965, and 31 percent for those who wed between 1965 and 1974. As Barry Kosmin et al. note in their preliminary report on the results of the overall study "since 1985 twice as many mixed couples (born Jew with Gentile spouse) have been created as Jewish couples (born Jew with Jewish spouse)."

In addition to the problem that is posed by low fertility for Jewish continuity, is the concern that most children with only one Jewish parent are not being raised as Jews. "Only 28 percent of... children [in religiously mixed households] are reported as being raised Jewish. Some 41 percent are being raised in a non-Jewish religion." Almost a third--31 percent--are not being given a religious identification.⁵ If we look at the full picture, we find that not only has intermarriage doubled but that "just under half of all children in the surveyed households are currently being raised with Judaism as their religion and another 16 percent qualify as secular Jews."⁶

Education is obviously the principal mechanism to socialize succeeding generations into being Jewish, and to stimulate adult Jews and Gentile spouses to foster religious and cultural interests in the community. What the Jewish community of the future will look like--occupationally, culturally, and Jewishly--will be, to a considerable degree, a function of both non-Jewish and Jewish education.

³ Regarding fertility rates, Goldstein points out that average completed fertility for Jewish women "was not only 20 percent below the...average for those aged 45-49 20 years earlier, but also 19 percent below the average for all white women aged 45-49 in 1988, and 10 percent below the 2.1 level needed for replacement." Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," p. 122. See also Calvin Goldscheider and Alan S. Zuckerman, *The Transformation of the Jews* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1984), pp. 177-78; Marshall Sklare, "Intermariage and the Jewish Future," *Commentary*, 37 (April 1964), pp. 46-52. For a report on extensive intermarriage before the massive East European immigration, see Chaim I. Waxman, *America's Jews in Transition* (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1983), pp. 25-6.

⁴ Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," p. 126. For similar documentation, see Sylvia Barack Fishman and Alice Goldstein, "When They Are Grown They Will Not Depart: Jewish Education and the Jewish Behavior of American Adults," Cohen Center for Modern Jewish Studies Research Report 8, March 1993.

⁵ Kosmin et al., *Highlights*, p. 16. See also Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," pp. 124-28.

⁶ Kosmin et al., *Highlights*, p. 15.

This article attempts to understand the determinants and consequences of Jewish education through an exploration of the NJPS data. The first section examines the factors that influence the probability of a respondent securing Jewish training. These factors include gender and age, as well as denominational, generational, regional, and familial background. The second part lends support to the hypothesis that the greater the exposure to Jewish learning, the more likely the recipient is to be involved in Jewish life and the religious community, and to pass the commitment on to his or her children. The conclusions drawn from the bivariate data of these two sections are then given additional credence through multivariate regression analyses. Finally, the paper addresses the future of the Jewish community--its youth. The determinants of Jewish education among the young are evaluated by examining the role of family socio-economic status, geographic mobility, patterns of religious observance, as well as denominational, familial, and regional background. Again, multiple regression is used to support the contingency table analysis. Those Jews enrolled in college are given particular attention because of the great problems and potential solutions posed by secular education for Jewish continuity.

The concern for Jewish continuity focuses, therefore, on Jewish education as the major tool available to the community to stem the weakening which is taking place. The study permits an examination of the relationship between different types of Jewish education and subsequent participation in--and commitment to--the community. The basic picture is clear: those classified as religious, whether born Jewish or converted to Judaism, are likely to report some form of Jewish education; eighty-four percent of the males and 65 percent of the females do so. The figures, however, drop for those born Jewish but classified as non-religious or ethnic-seculars. Three-fifths--61 percent--of the men and 45 percent of the women said they have had a Jewish education. People who were born and raised Jewish but converted out were much less likely to have had Jewish education (27 percent for the males and 24 percent for the females.)

These findings present us with a classic chicken and egg problem in trying to explain the role of religious education: To what extent do family religious commitments, which themselves might be a reflection of prior education, influence the strong linkages between Jewish education, Jewish identification and community involvement? Can schooling overcome the lack of commitment of those reared in weakly identified families? No definite conclusion is possible in absence of longitudinal data (information gathered over time from the same respondents), particularly since the decision to educate or not reflects, in most cases, the degree of religiosity in the home. Still, the evidence is congruent with the hypothesis that Jewish education makes a difference.

II. DETERMINANTS OF JEWISH EDUCATION FOR ADULT RESPONDENTS

Turning to the analysis, approximately 66 percent of the core respondents reported in the 1990 NJPS had, at some point, been exposed to formal Jewish education. Participation has been measured by the type of education received and the number of years completed. The type of education can be differentiated into four groups: 1) full-time Jewish schools including day schools and yeshivas 2) part-time schools that meet more than once a week, mainly in the afternoons 3) Sunday schools and other once-a-week Jewish educational programs 4) Private tutoring. There was no question in the survey about attendance at Jewish secular schools, such as those run by the Workmen's Circle. It is not possible to evaluate the quality of Jewish educational programs from the data. The formal Jewish education measures, e.g., types of schooling or years in different educational programs, are dependent variables when analyzing determinants, while, for the next section where the consequences of education are the focus, they serve as independent variables.

Most Jews living in America were not exposed to intensive religious education. More than half of those who ever attended--53 percent, or 35 percent of the whole sample--went to part-time, afternoon programs. The next to largest group is composed of those who had attended Sunday school--28 percent--followed by full-time day schools--11 percent--and private tutoring (eight percent). Almost all of those who have some Jewish education studied for more than a year; only 2.5 percent attended for less than a year. As shown in Table 1, 30 percent participated less than five years, and another 36 percent were involved for longer periods, with 15 percent having been in formal Jewish training for 11 years or more.

No. of Years	Born Jews - Religious Jews	Jews By Choice	Ethnic- secular Jews	Total CJP
< 5 years	31	56	20	30
6-10 years	26	4	8	21
11-14 years	8	1	1	6
15+ years	11	2	3	9
Never Attended	25	37	67	33
Types of Schooling				
Day School	13		3	11
Part-time/Afternoon	54	14	54	53
Sunday School	27	24	34	28
Private Tutor	5	62	9	8

Given that traditional Judaism places much greater emphasis on men than on women with respect to synagogue observance and religious study, it is not surprising that males are more likely than females to have been exposed to Jewish education (Table 2). The former are also more likely to have been involved in the more intense forms of Jewish education. Around two-thirds--66 percent--of day schoolers, and 63 percent of the part-timers are men. The picture reverses sharply for Sunday School (the least stringent form of training), and somewhat less for private tutoring. Sixty-two percent of Sunday schoolers and 50 percent of the privately tutored are female. To sum up, women are less likely to have been enrolled at all, while those who did so are more likely to have been involved in programs that met less frequently or for less time.

	Male	Female	Total
Day School	11	5	7
Part-time/Afternoon	46	25	35
Sunday School	15	22 0 1	19
Private Tutor	6	5	5
Never Attended	23	42	33

Basically, the same conclusions are reached with respect to the quantity of education received. Among those who received any, men have attended more years than women, although the gender difference diminishes for those who have studied for 10 years or more--17 percent male and 13 percent female. Still, the most noteworthy finding is that within each age group, women are much less likely to have any Jewish education and, if ever involved, to have studied for fewer years than men (Table 3).

	Table 3:	Years of	Attendanc	e by Age,	Controlle	d for Gen	der (Percen	t)	
	18-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	70-79	80+	Row Total
Male									
< 5 years	25	29	34	36	34	38	42	32	35
6-10 years	25	25	24	29	25	26	14	17	24
> 11 years	15	11	16	18	12	17	19	27	17
Never Attended	36	35	26	17	19	20	24	24	25
Female					_				
< 5 years	20	25	26	26	29	28	20	21	26
6-10 years	27	22	19	20	21	16	18	8	19
> 11 years	11	10	15	13	9	12	12	27	13
Never Attended	42	43	40	41	37	44	50	44	42

The same pattern, of course, holds up for the correlates of Bar or Bat Mitzvah ceremonies. It should be noted that the proportion of the denominationally identified who have been confirmed has increased over time, particularly among the younger. The converse is true for the ethnic-secular; only one-sixth of the 18 to 29 year olds among them have been confirmed as compared to two-thirds of the religiously linked. For the core Jewish population as a whole, less than half--46 percent--have gone through the coming of age rite. Confirmants include a majority--56 percent--of the religiously identified birth-right Jews (85 percent men and 27 percent women), compared to 24 percent of the ethnic-seculars (35 percent men and 13.5 percent women).

The fact that younger Jews have been less exposed to Jewish education than the middle-aged is congruent with the evidence that assimilation, particularly intermarriage, has increased. However, the relationship that exists, considering all age groups, appears to be curvilinear. Older and younger people have been less exposed to Jewish learning than the middle generation. Sixty-one percent of the 18 through 29-year-olds have been involved in some form. This figure increases gradually to 72 percent for those in the 50 through 59 year old category, but then declines to 67 percent for the 60 through 69-year-old group, and to 64 percent for those who are 70 years or older (Table 4).

	- AL	Year	rs of Birth a	nd Age	2		
Years Attended	1960-72 18-29	1950-59 30-39	1940-49 40-49	1930-39 50-59	1920-29 60-69	1919 and before 70+	Row Total
1-5 years	27	30	31	31	32	30	30
6-10 years	24	21	24	23	21	15	21
11-15 years	6	10	7	6	4	3	6
15+ years	5	5	9	12	10	16	9
Never Attended	39	33	29	28	33	36	33

Looking at the data in terms of decades, the largest proportion involved in Jewish education for substantial periods is found among those born in the 1930s followed by the war and post-war cohorts, those born in the 1940s. It is impossible to account for this pattern using the available data, but an interpretation may be suggested. The parents of the generations who reached confirmation age during the years that included the coming to power of the Nazis, increased anti-Semitism in the United States, the Holocaust, and the creation of the state of Israel, were exposed to very strong stimuli to affirm their Judaism. These events had a positive effect on Jewish identity, activating latent religious loyalties. Logically these events should have led more parents to send their children to Jewish schools. But they were sent disproportionately to the weakest and least effective form, i.e., Sunday school. It may be hypothesized further that as those events and experiences receded into history, the assimilatory forces regained strength.

Socio-political conditions during the school years appear to have had less effect on the type of Jewish education received than on length of time enrolled (see Table 5). Across all age or time cohorts, little more than one-third--35 percent--of the respondents

Years Attended	1960-72 18-29	1950-59 30-39	1940-49 40-49	1930-39 50-59	1920-29 60-69	1919 and before 70+	Row Total
Day School	9	7	7	6	12	6	8
Part-time/Afternoon	32	36	37	36	36	37	35
Sunday school	17	17	24	23	17	14	19
Private Tutor	3	5	4	9	5	9	5
Never Attended	39	34	27	26	30	35	33
Column Total	21	25	19	10	11	13	100

report having attended part-time schools. Sunday school attendance is, however, curiously curvilinear. It is greatest for those who were born during the 1930s and 1940s (e.g., aged 40-59 when interviewed), but less for younger cohorts and least for the oldest ones, who partook during the 1920s or earlier. Presumably such a limited form of schooling was less available for the older respondents and may have been more disapproved of by families closer to the old country experience. The proportion who went to day school has grown slightly but steadily over time, from six percent for the 1930s cohorts to seven for those who reached school age in the 1940s and 1950s, and nine percent for the youngest cohorts. Thus there has been an increase at the two extremes, those not participating and those attending the most intensive form, day schools. The latter change has particularly involved women.

How does assimilation to American society affect Jewish education? Examining the length of family residence in America provides an answer to this question. The relationship between Jewish education and national origin has been analyzed by breaking the sample into four generations: the foreign-born--10 percent; those born in the U.S. with two foreign-born parents--20 percent; those born here, with at least one parent born here and grandparents who are foreign-born--27.5 percent; and native-born, with at least one U.S. born parent and at least one grandparent born in America--43 percent. The relationship between these "generations" and the types of Jewish education is shown in Table 6.

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th
Day School	29	12	5	3
Part-Time	20	43	46	29
Sunday	7	13	22	22
Private Tutor	7	6	3	6
Never Attend	37	26	24	41

As is evident from the table, those from abroad include close to the largest proportion (37 percent) without any Jewish training and the biggest of those with the most intensive, day school (29 percent). The latter finding may reflect the greater availability of such

education in the "old country." One-fifth--20 percent--had attended part-time school. Few, seven percent, went to Sunday School, a form of education linked largely to the Reform movement, which did not exist in Eastern Europe and had a limited membership elsewhere. Clearly, day school attendance falls off steadily with length of generational stay in America, while Sunday school attendance increases.

These findings clearly imply that assimilation pressures are operative. The interplay between generational background and type of training reinforces the assumption that Americanization works against Jewish education. As noted, the foreign-born show great propensity to have attended day school. Not only is it true that American-born Jews are seemingly more assimilated in terms of educational involvements, but logically they are also less Orthodox. These relationships are reinforced when we relate patterns of school attendance to the third generation, i.e., grandparents. As noted above, those with no grandparents born in the United States are the most likely to have attended day school. More than four-fifths--84 percent--of all day school students do not have a single American-born grandparent. They are also more likely to have gone to part-time afternoon than to Sunday school, and are the least likely to report a private tutor or to have no Jewish education. Those who have all four grandparents native-born show the opposite pattern: forty-four percent have not been involved in any form of Jewish education, compared to 26 percent of those with four foreign-born grandparents.

The curvilinear relationship between generation and non-attendance (highest for the first and fourth generations) may reflect two diverse patterns of assimilation. Many of the foreign-born respondents and their parents were reared in cultures which contained large segments of highly religious Orthodox and extremely irreligious radicals.⁷ As noted, however, the Population Survey unfortunately did not inquire into exposure to secular Yiddish education. In America, both groups were exposed to cultural pressures to give up the strict requirements of Orthodoxy and adherence to atheistic, irreligious, politically radical doctrines, as they aspired to--or made their way into--the middle class. The more acceptable behavior was Americanized moderate Conservatism for those of Orthodox background, and Reform for the scions of secularity.

Whether one is the offspring of an intermarried family or not is an even more decisive factor. The dysfunctional effects of intermarriage on Jewish continuity are clear. The likelihood of receiving a Jewish education is greatest when both parents are Jewish. This is true for roughly two-thirds of the respondents. Four-fifths of them have been to Jewish schools, compared to about 30 percent of those from intermarried families. As noted earlier, relatively few respondents attended day schools, but 93 percent of those who did were from fully Jewish families, while only 48 percent of those who are Jewishly identified--but without any exposure to religious education--had two Jewish parents. Thirty-nine percent of the respondents with intramarried parents continued their studies for six or more years, compared to nine percent of those with intermarried ones.

In religiously mixed families, a Jewish mother appears somewhat more important for educational continuity than a Jewish father. This finding may reflect the fact that Judaism is a matrilineal religion, and that in America generally, women are more religiously committed and involved than men. Still, as indicated in Table 7, only 34

⁷ For a fulsome account of the leftist Yiddish culture, see Irving Howe, *The World of Our Fathers: The Journey of the East European Jews to America and the Life They Found and Made* (New York: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, 1976).

		Intermarriage E Education (Per		
Years Attended	Both Parents Jewish	Mother Jewish	Father Jewish	Total
< 5 years	41	24	19	37
6-10 years	27	8	5	21
11-15 years	7	2	1	6
15+ years	5		2	5
Never Attended	20	66	73	31

percent of the offspring of intermarried Jewish women had any religious education, a bit more than 27 percent of those whose one Jewish parent was a male.

The denomination of the family of origin is obviously important in affecting the propensity for Jewish education, though by some measures less than might be anticipated. Surprisingly, an identical proportion--20 percent--from Orthodox and Reform families, never had formal Jewish education, while for Conservatives the ratio is a bit higher--23 percent. Those from Orthodox homes, however, exhibited the highest commitment, if type of education is considered: 46 percent attended day school, while 28 percent went to part-time afternoon classes. Over half of them--53 percent--spent six or more years in a Jewish curriculum. Conservative offspring were much more likely than scions of Reform to have attended day school--12 percent--or afternoon classes--46 percent. Curiously, the children of Conservative families spent fewer years absorbing Jewish learning than those from Reform origins. More than two-fifths of the former--38 percent--compared with 42 percent of the latter, continued their education for six years or more. Fifty-six percent of those from an ethnic-secular background did not partake of any Jewish education.

Table 8:	Denomination	Raised and Years	in Jewish Ed	lucation (Perce	ent)
Years Attended	Orthodox	Conservative	Reform	Ethnic- secular	Total
< 5 years	29	38	38	31	34
6-10 years	30	27	29	7	23
11-15 years	9	6	9	4	6
15+ years	12	5	4	2	5
Never Attended	20	23	20	56	31

Current affiliation produces somewhat stronger correlations, presumably because the level and intensity of Jewish education reflect the degree of religiosity of the respondents. Twenty percent of today's Orthodox report having gone to a full-time day school as compared to less than seven percent of the Conservatives, and only three percent of the Reform. Conservatives lead the Reform in proportion of those who have attended part-time school, 50 percent to 34 percent. Conversely, however, those now affiliated with Reform are more likely to have been exposed to the least stringent training (Sunday school)--41 percent-compared to the Conservatives' 16 percent, and Orthodox's

nine percent. Not surprisingly, those who have remained Orthodox are much more likely to have had day school education than those who left the denomination. This may suggest that the latter's families were actually much less Orthodox than the former's. In any case, the modal relationships to religious denominations are clear: day school for the Orthodox, afternoon for the Conservatives, Sunday for the Reform. Not surprisingly, most of those who report some form of secular identification were not involved in any form of Jewish religious education.

The part of the country in which respondents were born also has a clear relationship to exposure to religious teaching. Forty-eight percent of those from the Western states and 34 percent of Southerners had never partaken of any form of formal Jewish learning, compared to 30 percent of Northeasterners and 28 percent of Midwesterners. Those from the Northeast, the oldest region of American Jewish settlement, also show the highest propensity for day school--seven percent--and afternoon school--42 percent--as compared to three percent and 25 percent for those from the South. These results again are congruent with our impressions of the correlates of assimilation: most in the West, least in the Northeast. The foreign-born, it may be noted again, were the most likely to have received a day school education--29 percent--whereas only five percent of the American-born secured such an intensive education.

Considering the different variables--gender, age, denomination, generational background, intermarriage, and region--a clear picture emerges of the factors associated with educational enrollment. The most likely candidate to have received formal Jewish education has the following profile: a male who is foreign-born or has foreign-born parents and grandparents, with practicing non-intermarried parents who raised him in the Northeast and in one of the three major denominations, preferably Orthodox. The more the indicators reflect Americanization, the less chances of having been trained for Jewish continuity. None of these are surprising, and the implications for Jewish continuity are discouraging since all the negative factors are increasing.

These factors were combined in an Americanization scale, comprised of variables such as generations in the U.S., denomination and region reared, and Jewishness of parent. Respondents scored from zero to four. As shown in Table 9, the more Americanized one's score, the less exposure to Jewish education.

Years Attended	Very Jewish	Jewish	Americanized	Very Americanized	
< 5 Years	35	45	36	36	
6 - 18 Years	29	27.5	19	2	
11 - 15 Years	8	5	7	1	
15+ Years	9	4	3	-	
Never Attended	18	18	35	61	
Total	10	41	39	10	

III. THE CONSEQUENCES OF FORMAL JEWISH EDUCATION

The previous section related measures of Jewish education to various background variables. This section considers the educational items as independent variables to see how the degree of Jewish training, secured while young, is associated with various adult attitudes and behaviors. The following areas can be hypothesized as consequences of Jewish education: Jewish identity, denomination, synagogue attendance, philanthropy (especially Jewish), involvement in Jewish organizations, intermarriage, attachment to Israel, attitudes regarding Jewishness, adult Jewish learning, and children's Jewish education. Importantly, it should be noted that what follows are reports of correlations, not of causal processes.

Perhaps the best single indicator of commitment to continuity and the community in the survey is the question "How important is being a Jew for you?" Only 22 percent of those who had never been exposed to any form of Jewish education replied "very important." The same answer was given by 75 percent of those who had been to day school, 68 percent of the privately tutored, 47 percent of the former students at part-time/afternoon classes, and 40 percent of respondents whose training was limited to Sunday school. A strong relationship exists between length of Jewish studies and the response "very important," from 41 percent of those who had five years or less of Jewish education to 70 percent for those who had 11 years or more. It is noteworthy that the 16 percent of the core Jewish population who were classified as ethnic-seculars--over half of whom had no Jewish schooling--were overwhelmingly very low on commitment.

Historically, Jewish life has centered around the synagogue. This is less true in America: as of 1990, 67 percent of Jewish households reported that they are not members. Still, 73 percent of the respondents said that they attend a religious service at least once a year. Only 22 percent participate once a month or more. Fifty two percent attend from once to a few times a year, presumably on the High Holidays, while 27 percent never partake. Synagogue behavior, of course, correlates with religious education. The more involvement when young, the more participation as an adult.

Т	able 10: Years in the	of Education Synagogue (ment	
	Never Attended	< 6 Years	6-10 Years	11+ Years	Total
Member	18	34	44	52	33
Attended Once a Month or More	17	19	28.5	38	22

Close to half of American Jews, 48 percent, report that they observe the most serious religious personal obligation, fasting on Yom Kippur. Willingness to do so correlates strongly with type and duration of religious training. Most former day and afternoon schoolers, as well as the privately tutored--70, 59, and 70 percent respectively--abstain from food on that day. Less than half of those who attended Sunday school--47 percent--fast, while the overwhelming majority--72 percent--of those who never had any

Jewish education eat on this High Holiday. As expected, abstaining from food on Yom Kippur correlates strongly with amount of training: from 28 percent for those who never attended religious school, to 52 percent for those who went for the five years or less, to 67 percent for those with 11 or more years education.

To further demonstrate the relationship, a scale was constructed of four so-called "identity" items used in many studies of Jewish commitment. These items are: 1) candles at Hanukkah 2) candle ceremonies on Friday nights 3) attendance at Passover seders, and 4) eating Kosher foods. The scale ranges from "very high" (following all four rituals most of the time) to "very low" (never observing any). As expected, the more intense the educational experience of respondents, the higher their score on ritual observance. Close to a fifth, 18 percent, of those who score in the very high category are former day school students. Conversely, only three percent in the very low group have the same background. More than three-fifths, 67 percent, of the extreme non-identifiers lack any Jewish education. Those whose Jewish training is limited to Sunday school are the least likely of the religiously educated to be in the highest identity category: 18 percent are, as compared to 52 percent of those who had been to day school.

		Very Low	Low	Average	High	Very High	Row Total
Day	Row	5	6	20	17	52	8
School	Column	3	3	6	5	18	
Part-time	Row	6	14	27	28	26	35
_	Column	16	31	38	39	40	
Sunday	Row	8	14	25	36	18	19
School	Column	12	17	19	27	15	
Private	Row	4	14	28	26	29	5
tutor	Column	2	4	6	6	7	
Never	Row	25	22	23	18	13	33
Attended	Column	67	45	30	22	20	
Column To	otal	12	16	25	25	22	100

The same relationship holds true for the number of years of Jewish education. Close to half, 44 percent, of those with more than 15 years of study are in households which observe all four rituals, while, as noted earlier, two-thirds, 67 percent, of the interviewees without any religious training are not involved in any. The propensity to be totally non-observant correlates in linear fashion with the amount of education: 25 percent for those with no formal Jewish education, 19 percent for one to five years, seven percent for six to ten, four percent for 11 to 15 years, and three percent for those with 15 years or more of formal Jewish education. The ritual observance scale has been disaggregated in Table 12 to demonstrate that the longer one attends Jewish schooling, the more likely one is to follow each observance.

	Hanukkah Candles		Attend	Seders	Friday	Candles	Koshe	er Meat
Years Attended	Never	All of the time	Never	All of the time	Never	All of the time	Never	All of the time
1-5 years	21	51	18	47	65	8	59	13
6-10 years	13	61	8	65	54	15	56	13
11-15 years	12	73	11	77	44	25	60	23
15+ years	22	65	12	65	46	30	42	33
Never	48	33	40	31	75	7	65	9

The decline of involvement in the Jewish religious community is paralleled by a fall-off in intra-communal social relationships if the popular impression of close ties in the old country, or areas, of first generation immigrant settlement is accurate. Close to two-fifths of the respondents, 37 percent, reported most or all of their closest friends are Jewish. About a fifth, 23 percent, said none or few are, while 41 percent responded "some." As with earlier indicators, the more education, the more Jewish friends (Table 13). The data showing most or all are Jewish has, however, fallen steadily over time, from close to three-fifths for those over 65 years old, to below a third for those between 18 and 29 years of age. And as with other indicators of Jewish commitment, informal ties are linked to religious training. Over half, 53 percent, of those with more than 15 years of Jewish education reported most or all of their closest friends are Jewish, compared to over a quarter, 27 percent, for those who never partook in any formal Jewish learning.

Jewish Friends	< 5 Years	6-10 Years	11-15 Years	15+ Years	None	Row Total
Few/None	20	20	18	16	29	23
Some Jewish	41	39	33	30	44	40
Most/All	39	41	49	53	27	37
Column Total	33	23	6	5	33	100

Much more important than friendships, of course, is marriage. The most publicized result of the Population Study is that the rate of intermarriage has steadily increased to 57 percent for those wed in the last five years. This is a new development in the history of the American Jewish family. As Egon Mayer points out, the Jewish family has been a remarkably stable institution through much of the twentieth century during which time, "Jews continued to marry other Jews, and through the forces of intergenerational continuity, continued to raise children stamped with some inchoate sense of Jewish

identity...."⁸ Signs of change were revealed in the 1970 NJPS: "What shocked the community was the reported rise in the level of intermarriage from less than two percent of those individuals who had married before 1925, to about six percent of those marrying between 1940 and 1960, to 12 percent of the 1960-64 marriage cohort, to a high of 29 percent of all Jews marrying in the five years preceding the survey."⁹

The 1990 NJPS indicates the pace of change has not decreased. If we consider the entire core Jewish population in the sample, not just the recently married, 61 percent of the respondents report that their first and usually only spouse was born Jewish. Another five percent are married to converts. Of the remaining, 10 percent have Catholic spouses, 13 percent Protestants, six percent "others," and four and a half percent wedded people with no religion. The latter two categories are probably predominantly of Jewish origin.

Once again, the extent and nature of Jewish education correlate strongly with the probability of mating with another Jew. The more Jewish education one has, the less likely one is to marry a non-Jew. Over three-quarters, 78 percent, of those who attended a day school married birth-right Jews, a figure which falls off to two-thirds for both private tutorees (65 percent) and persons educated in part-time school (67 percent), and to 57 percent for Sunday schoolers. Half--50 percent--of interviewees who had no Jewish training wed non-Jewish partners. The full picture is presented in Table 14:

Religion of Spouse			School Type		
(First Marriage if More Than One)	Day School	Part-time	Sunday School	Private Tutor	Never Attended
Born Jewish	78	65	57	67	50
Converted	1	8	5	3	4
Catholic	6	9	11	5	14
Protestant	3	11	18	19	14
Other	4	3	6	6	9
No Religion	9	4	3	-	7

The growth in the intermarriage rate reflects current attitudes dominant among adult Jews. The Population Survey inquired: "Hypothetically, if your child were considering marrying a non-Jewish person, would you: strongly support, support, accept, or be neutral, oppose, or strongly oppose the marriage?" Only 16 percent would oppose and six percent strongly oppose such a marriage. One-third would support a child doing so, 47 percent would accept it or be neutral. More religious education only marginally reduces the willingness to accept or support intermarriage, except for those with more than 15 years of schooling, presumably largely dedicated Orthodox. Still, only minorities in each category are antagonistic: 34 percent in the 15+ years group, 23 percent among the six through 10 years one, 15 percent for the five years or less, and only eight percent among those without any formal Jewish education.

⁸ Egon Mayer, "American-Jewish Intermarriage in the 1990s and Beyond: The Coming Revolution in Jewish Demography and Communal Policy," in Mayer, ed., *The Imperatives of Jewish Outreach* (The Jewish Outreach Institute and The Center for Jewish Studies, City University of New York, 1991), p. 39.

⁹ Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," p. 125.

The decline in concern for intermarriage is reflected in Jews' preferences with regard to the ethno-religious character of the neighborhoods in which they live. The proximity to Jewish or Gentile neighbors presumably affects the probabilities for marrying in or out of the community. The majority of those interviewed report living in areas which are not Jewish--35 percent, or little Jewish--28 percent. Only nine percent reside in very Jewish districts. The proportion living in the latter falls off in linear fashion by age from those over 60, 15 percent, to the 18 through 29 year old group, eight percent. Many, of course, do not have much choice when their communities lack distinctively Jewish districts as more and more cities do.

The NJPS inquired as to how important the Jewish character of the neighborhood is to the respondent. A majority, 62 percent, replied that it is either not important or not very important, while 32 percent answered that it is somewhat important. Only 14 percent said it is very important to reside in a predominantly Jewish district. Not surprisingly, such feelings strongly relate to the extent and type of education received, much like the behavioral and attitudinal items presented earlier. As reported in Tables 15 and 16, the longer and more intense the Jewish educational experience, the more people are interested in living among their co-religionists, presumably, at least in part, to facilitate the upbringing and marriage of their children with other Jews. But as we have seen, this is not a major concern of most American Jews. Only 27 percent of those with 15 or more years of religious education said it is very important to live in a Jewish neighborhood, while fully 44 percent did not consider it important. The indicators of sentiments toward the religious background of their children's spouses and neighbors suggest that the walls have been permanently breached, that education alone will not maintain the community.

		1-5	6-10	11-14	15+	none	Row Total
	Row	32	22	4.5	4	8	54
Not important and not very important	Column	52	51	39	44	62	-
Somewhat important	Row	36	26	6.5	5	26	32
	Column	35	36	33	29	26	
Very important	Row	30	21	12	10	28	14
	Column	13	13	27.5	26.5	12	
Column Total		33	23	6	5	33	100

Nathan Glazer once noted that Israel had become the religion of the Jews. That is to say, it is the major source of Jewish identity or commitment. The findings of the Population study, however, challenge the assumption that Jews, regardless of their background, are deeply committed to the Jewish state.

The NJPS asked the following four questions: How emotionally attached are you to Israel? How many times have you been to Israel? Do you often talk about Israel to

		Day school	Part Time	Sunday	Private Tutor	none	Row Total
	Row	5	32	21	5	38	54
Not important and not very important	Column	34	48	60	47	62	-
Somewhat important	Row	8	40	19.5	6	26.5	32
	Column	34	36	33	36	26	-
Very important	Row	17	40	10	6	27	14
	Column	32	16	7	17	12	-
Column Total		7	35.6	19	5	33	100

friends and relatives? and Do you contribute to the United Jewish Appeal? (Most of the funds for the latter are collected in the name of Israel's needs.) The responses to the first question clearly suggest that most American Jews are not strongly dedicated to the Jewish state. Only 10 percent said they are "extremely attached to Israel," while another 20 percent answered "very attached." The most common response given by over two-fifths--45 percent--was "somewhat," while 25 percent replied they were "not attached." At first glance, the picture looks more positive with respect to the second query, conversations about Israel with friends and relatives. Over two-thirds--68 percent--said they talked about Israel. When the interviewers inquired further, "How often would that be?" giving them the choices of often, sometimes, rarely, or not at all, the interest seems less than implied by the affirmative answers. Only 18 percent of the total sample replied "often." Two-fifths--40 percent--answered "sometimes." A tenth said "rarely," which, when added to the 32 percent in the never category, comes to nearly half, or 42 percent, for both.

Similar distributions of reactions to Israel are reflected with respect to visits to Israel. Only 26 percent of adult Jewish Americans report ever having travelled to the Jewish state. The proportion of those who have done so three or more times is six percent, the same as for those who have visited twice, while 14 percent went once.

These four measures of commitment to--or interest in--Israel clearly correlate with various indicators of Jewishness, such as type of religious involvement and adherence to Jewish ritual. Secular and intermarried Jews are less close to Israel. And as might be expected, attitudes and behavior correlate with educational background. A good majority--63 percent--of those who attended day school report themselves extremely or very attached to Israel (34 percent and 29 percent, respectively). The small group who had private tutoring are a far second in indicating that they are very or extremely attached to Israel, while the part-time students are third and the Sunday schoolers fourth. Almost half of those without any Jewish education--47 percent--said they feel no attachment; only five percent of them indicate extreme attachment to Israel.

	Extremely Attached	Very Attached	Somewhat Attached	Not Attached	Row Total
Day School	34	29	23	14	8
Part-time/Afternoon	11	22	51	16	36
Sunday School	5	24	53	18	21
Private Tutor	13	30	46	11	4
Never Attended	5	10	39	47	30
Column Total	25	45	20	10	100

The same pattern turns up in the analysis of the other three items--how often Jews visit Israel, talk about the Jewish state, and contribute to the United Jewish Appeal. As can be seen in Table 18, the more years of education, the more likely a Jew will visit Israel.

	Never	< 5 Years	6-10 Years	11-15 Years	15+ Years
Never Visited	87	75	67	47	49
Visited Once	7	17	18	22	17
Visited Twice	3	4	6	14	17
Visited Three or More Times	3	4	9	17	17

And once again, type of Jewish school attended and number of years involved are associated with propensity to engage in discussions about the Jewish state. Three-fifths of those without any formal training rarely or never discuss Israel, while the parallel figures for day schoolers is 23 percent. The proportion who talk "often" is much higher--55 percent--for day schoolers.

	Rarely or Never	Often
Day School	22	45
Part-time/Afternoon	41	18
Sunday School	29	20
Private Tutor	29	28
Never Attended	61	7
Total	42	18

Looking at sources of Jewish communal financial support and activity, Jewish education is clearly relevant. Over four-fifths--83 percent--of the respondents in households that contribute to Jewish charities, have received formal Jewish schooling. Furthermore, it appears that close to 60 percent of former Jewish school pupils are in households that donate.

The recurrent pattern reported here is reiterated with respect to the background of contributors to the UJA/Federation, as well as to other Jewish charities. More Jews, however, give to the latter, which are not necessarily related to the state of Israel. The more education Jews were exposed to as young people, the greater their propensity to contribute to both types of philanthropy.

Charities a		
Years Attended	Jewish Charities	UJA
< 5 years	57	38
6-10 years	61	45
11-15 years	65	151-38
15+ years	65	53
Never	33	21
Total	51	35

And in a similar vein, willingness to belong, and volunteer services, to Jewish organizations correlates strongly with educational history. The range of those who report volunteer activities descends from 29 percent for those with more than 15 years of study to 16 percent for those with less than five years of study, and ultimately to 10 percent for those unschooled in Jewish learning. Similarly, the more intensely educated, the more likely people are to subscribe to Jewish periodicals: 37 percent for individuals with 15 years or more of Jewish education, 21 percent for those with five years or less schooling, and 12 percent for the Jewishly uneducated.

Further, the propensity to continue with Jewish education into adulthood is closely linked to previous attendance and type of former schooling. Even though only 14 percent of the respondents reported attending adult programs during the year before they were interviewed, 78 percent who did so had formal Jewish education. Of the small group who had spent 15 or more years in some form of religious study, 22 percent have continued their education as adults, as have 24 percent for those who were exposed to Jewish education for 11-15 years, and 12 percent for those who had five years or less. Type of education differentiates in the same way. If respondents had attended day school in their youth, they were more likely to be involved in adult Jewish educational programs than were those who had been involved in other forms of schooling. Close to 28 percent of former day schoolers, as compared to 14 and 12 percent of former part-timers and Sunday schoolers respectively, took part in adult Jewish educational programs.

The results of the 1990 NJPS clearly point to the weakening of American Jewishness. As indicated at the beginning of this study, the combination of assimilation processes (especially growing rates of intermarriage) and a low birthrate, have significantly reduced the proportion of Jews in the national population as well as decreased the stringency of the commitment to Jewishness of those who remain identified. Almost one-fifth of the survey respondents report that the denomination in which they were raised was Orthodox, but only five percent identify their current affiliation as such. Conservatives have remained constant at 31.5 percent, while Reform grew from 25 to 35 percent. The proportion who report their family origin or themselves as non-religious or "just Jewish," increased from nine to 14 percent.

The data reported in Table 21 emphasize anew the weakening of traditional Judaism and the power of assimilation. Thus, as noted, less than a quarter, 23 percent, of the offspring of Orthodox parents, have remained in the same denomination. Conservatives have retained 58 percent, while the most Americanized group, the Reform, have held on to 79 percent. Goodly majorities of the children of the secularized or non-denominational parents fall into similar categories. It is noteworthy that both the Reform and the Conservatives have recruited about one-seventh of their supporters from persons of non-Jewish origins, i.e., converts.

Raised	Current	OR	со	RE	CB	11	MX	NR	NJ	Tota
Orthodox (OR)	Row	23	46	19	4	7_	S	1	1	19
	Col	84	28	10	27	14	-	4	2	-
Conservative (CO)	Row	1	58	26	4	5	-	3	4	32
	Col	4	57	23	38	16	38	23	11	-
Reform (RE)	Row		5	79	- 1	5	/	3	7	25
	Col		4	55	11	13	37	15	15	
Combinations (CB)	Row	X	39	30	17	56	-	2	6	3
	Col	1	4	3	16	2	-	1	2	
Just Jewish (JJ)	Row	4	6	14	1	63	-	5	6	7
	Col	5	1	3	3	47		9	4	
Mixed J & NJ (MX)	Row	*	3 4 1	11	П	-		16	63	1
	Col	14	-		3			3	4	
Non-religious (NR)	Row	(4 .)	12	5	-	3	**	80	*	2
	Col	**	1			I	~	36		
Not Jewish (NJ)	Row	3	14	16	1	6	1	3	57	12
	Col	6	5	5	3	7	25	9	63	
Column Total		5	32	35	3	10		4	11	100

To sum up, the iron law of the "more the more" prevails. The longer Jews have been exposed to Jewish education, the greater their commitment to the community, to some form of the religion, and to Israel. The relationships among type of school attended, attitudes, and behavior reiterate this conclusion again and again. For all items presented above, those who went to day school were much more likely to give the most intensely Jewish responses than respondents who attended part-time/afternoon school. The latter in turn exhibited a higher degree of Jewish commitment than interviewees whose education was limited to Sunday school. It is impossible, however, to conclude from the separate bivariate analyses presented so far that a Jewish learning experience is the most important causal factor in the processes. Obviously, the religious education a young person receives reflects his or her family values and the character of the community within which he or she lives. Such background factors undoubtedly influence him or her as much or more than what goes on in the classroom. But these variables are interactive, mutually supportive, or negating. Clearly, the better (whatever that means) and more intense their training, the more likely Jews are to continue in the faith and community.

The next section utilizes multivariate regression to clarify and support the contingency table analysis in the preceding parts of the paper. Using statistical controls, this approach allows us, on the one hand, to evaluate and compare the different determinants of Jewish education for adult respondents and, on the other, to consider Jewish training as a single independent variable within a larger model of the causes of adult behaviors and attitudes. Basically, it involves holding all variables constant, so that the factors which might have an impact, other than those being tested, are eliminated.



IV. MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS OF THE ADULT RESPONDENTS

This section seeks to confirm and further specify the analysis of the determinants and consequences of formal Jewish education. The first part deals with the factors that determine the type and duration of Jewish schooling a respondent receives. Since the purpose is to derive the determinants of enrolling in Jewish educational programs, the factors or covariates logically must be causally prior to the outcome. The second half studies the attitudinal and behavioral consequences of receiving a religious education as measured by a composite Jewish Identity Index.

Data and Variables

The first series of regressions utilizes five different measures of Jewish education as dependent variables: 1) years of formal Jewish training not controlling for the type of education 2) years of day school 3) of part-time school 4) of Sunday school, and 5) of private tutoring. The independent variables for each of these models include denomination (if any) in which the respondent was raised (Orthodox, Conservative, Reform, or Secular), generational background (a four point scale described above), gender (male=1, female=0), age, intermarriage of respondent's parents (both parents Jewish=1, mother Jewish=2, father Jewish=3, both non-Jewish=4),¹⁰ and region born (Northeast=1, Midwest=2, West=3, South=4). A variable for respondents who converted to Judaism is added to the final model for private tutoring since adult converts secure this type of education.

The second series of multiple regressions uses as a dependent variable a scale of Jewish identity composed of 18 factors: adult Jewish education, synagogue membership, subscription to a Jewish newspaper, giving to Jewish causes, volunteering to Jewish causes, membership in Jewish organizations, lighting Shabbat candles, Seder, keeping Kosher, having separate dishes, observing Hanukkah, Purim, and Yom Kippur, handling money, Jewish friends, celebrating Israel's Independence Day, giving Jewish education to children, and intermarriage. All factors were transformed into dummy variables and the scale was computed ranging from 1-18. Like the first section, the independent variables include denominational and generational background as well as gender and age. Other variables are: level of secular education achievement (number of years completed), synagogue attendance (scaled 1-9 with 1 representing "a few times a week"), number of trips to Israel (1-3), region born, and income. Five models are generated to observe the different effects of day, part-time, and Sunday school training as well as private tutoring on Jewish Identity.

¹⁰ The last category (no parents Jewish) is very small, containing only respondents who have converted into the faith.

Hypotheses

The contingency table analysis in the preceding sections has laid out in detail the expectations for the multiple regressions. For the determinants of Jewish education, denominational background should demonstrate a strong relationship with propensity to seek a Jewish education. More specifically, being Orthodox is expected to be an important factor in increasing the number of years of Jewish training, particularly in day school. Conservative and Reform should demonstrate similar but weaker patterns, while being raised in a Secular family should show a negative relationship. All measures of assimilation--intermarriage of a respondent's parents, generational distance from the old country, and age (i.e., younger Jews)--should relate negatively to education. In addition, generational background and age should demonstrate curvilinear trends, as suggested in the above bivariate analysis. Gender (being male) is expected to show a positive relationship. Finally, a conversion should significantly increase the likelihood of having private tutoring.

For the consequences of Jewish education on Jewish identity, we are primarily interested in the hypothesis that training has a positive relationship to identity and that the type of schooling matters (day school having the greatest impact on identity, followed by part-time, and then Sunday school and tutoring). Denomination is again expected to be an important variable in determining Jewish identity. Generation, gender (being male), secular education, and income are expected to produce negative correlations with Jewish identity. With the exception of gender, all of these are indicators of assimilation. This expectation with regard to gender is informed by the larger American pattern of females demonstrating higher levels of religious commitment than males. Age, synagogue attendance, and trips to Israel should show a positive relationship, while region born is expected to be negatively related.

Methods

Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression with dummy variables was used to analyze the data. Forced entry multiple regressions were run with independent variables entered according to their order of relationships expressed in the zero-order correlations with the dependent variable.

The following equation was used to estimate all the models:

(1) $Y_i = \beta_0 + \gamma_1 D_1 + \beta_1 \chi_{1i} + \gamma_k D_{\kappa i} + \beta_k \chi_{ki} + \varepsilon_i$

where Y_i is a numerical dependent variable observation, X_{μ} and X_{κ} are fixed independent variable scores and the D_{κ} are dummy variable regressors. I will comment on the nonlinear forms of the age and generation variables below. Both tables report beta-weights or standardized partial regression coefficients for:

(2)
$$\beta_k^* = \beta_k (\delta_x / \delta_y)$$

where β_k^* is interpreted as the expected change in Y, in standard deviation units, for a one-standard deviation in increment X_k , holding constant the other independent variables.

Lastly, the e_1 is an error random variable with the same properties as the error in a simple bivariate regression. Errors are assumed to be normally and independently distributed with zero expectations and common variance, δ^2 .

Results: Determinants

Confirming the earlier contingency tables, denomination raised played a significant role in explaining both duration and type of formal Jewish education received. Gender also had a consistent impact on the dependent variable. Most important, however, was the extent to which respondents came from fully Jewish families, i.e., whether they were raised in intermarried households. The results from Models [1] through [5] are presented in Table 22.

In Model [1], where type of schooling has not been controlled for, being Orthodox explains greater variation in the dependent variable--with a standardized coefficient of .18--than being Conservative or Reform (.07 and .03, respectively). Controlling for the type of education, different denominations predictably impact the propensity to obtain different forms of education. For Model [2], being Orthodox has a strong positive relationship with years of day school, while being Conservative or Reform shows the reverse relationship. With a beta weight of .18, being Conservative is a strong predictor of part-time school attendance, relative to the other denomination variables. In Model [4], Reform demonstrates a large positive relationship with years of Sunday school. Finally, a secular orientation is negatively related to all types of Jewish education. These results are not surprising--Orthodox secure the most intensive form of training while Conservative, Reform, and Secular Jews tend to enroll in progressively less rigorous types of education.

The most powerful factor affecting the dependent variable in virtually every model is intermarriage. In Models [1] through [4], the intermarriage variable has betas of -.49, -.48, -.58, and -.41 respectively. Clearly, a cohesive Jewish family unit is vital in increasing the probability that a respondent secures some form of religious training.

Gender also demonstrates a clear and consistent relationship with religious education generally. Positive and substantively large betas in each model support the earlier bivariate analysis which indicated that men are more likely than women to secure training. However, this pattern holds mainly for the more intensive forms of education (day school and part-time), while the gender gap is less apparent in the case of Sunday school enrollment.

Bivariate analyses of the age and generation variables indicated possible curvilinear relationships. This hypothesis was born out for age, but not generation. Consequently, the regression results reflect age transformed by the general parabolic curve--

$$\beta_{age} \chi_{age}^{1/b}$$

Contrary to expectations, age negatively impacted the likelihood of receiving Jewish education in Models [1], [2], and [3], while this variable had a substantively insignificant beta of .00 in the Sunday school model. Interpretation of these results is difficult. For our purposes, we leave the effect of age on education an open question, only noting that all of the beta weights are small-medium in magnitude and that none achieve statistical significance at p < .05.

The original hypothesis regarding generation was neither clearly confirmed or disconfirmed by the results. Generation demonstrated the expected negative relationship in Models [1] and [2], with standardized coefficients of -.01 and -.23 respectively. However, the direction of the relationship changes when predicting years of part-time

education and Sunday school. This is understandable since increasing generational distance from the old world would tend to decrease the propensity of Jews to seek the most intensive form of religious training (day school) while increasing, in a relative sense, the likelihood of obtaining less rigorous forms (part-time and Sunday school).

The region variable also had an ambiguous effect on the duration of different forms of Jewish training. The hypothesis regarding the importance of being born in regions of more heavily concentrated Jewish populations and institutions was not supported by the regression results. Region demonstrated a substantial beta weight of .22 in the Sunday school model, yet it had a negligible effect on the number of years of day school and part-time training, indicating the region is a fairly unimportant variable in determining duration of the more intensive types of education. The large and statistically significant coefficient for Model [4] may reflect the propensity of Jews living outside of traditionally Jewish regions to obtain the least rigorous of the forms of Jewish education. Part of the problem would seem to lie in the variable itself. The NJPS asked respondents in what region they were born, but, taking into account patterns of mobility, respondents' answers might not have been reflective of the region in which they spent their school years. The region variable is also difficult to interpret because its status as an ordinal variable is uncertain. That is, it is not clear what it means to "increase" from Northeast (=1) to Midwest (=2) in terms of rank order.

The final model in Table 22 produces clear and predictable conclusions. Having converted to Judaism best explains how much time was spent with a private tutor. Being raised in any denomination has a consistent and strong negative effect on the likelihood of receiving this type of education.

Finally, it should be noted that once the type of education had been controlled for, the fit of the models improved. Model [1] had a total variance explained of .29. The R² jumped to .55 once Model [2] controlled for day school graduates and dropped to .40 and .34 for part-time and Sunday school graduates respectively.

Consequences and Jewish Identity

Table 23 presents the five models used to analyze the consequences of formal Jewish education. Model [1] confirms that duration is one of the better predictors of Jewish identity. However, though the effect of Jewish education is strong and significant when controlling for other covariates, synagogue attendance and visits to the Jewish homeland are stronger correlates of Jewish identity.¹¹ The more frequently the respondent attends the synagogue and visits the Jewish state, the higher the Jewish Identity score.

Controlling for type of schooling, Model [2] shows that respondents' time spent in day school has the most significant effect on Jewish identity of all the model's variables. This is confirmed by the magnitude of the standardized score at .52. As reported in Models [3] and [4], duration of part-time and Sunday school education have a smaller effect on Jewish identity with betas of .13 and .09. In short, Jewish education programs that require a greater time commitment have greater impact on Jewish identity after

¹¹ The findings regarding synagogue attendance and visits to Israel are unsurprising, but one should be wary of their role in this analysis. In modelling the determinants of Jewish identity, there are numerous variables which can be used as either independent variables or components of the dependent variable. That is, one could plausibly reason that attendance and visits to the homeland are indicators of the construct Jewish identity. This, in part, explains the magnitude and statistical significance of these two factors when they are defined as independent variables.

controlling for other important covariates. The difference between attending day school and enrolling in any other type of training is considerable.¹²

Interpretation of the other independent variables is fairly straightforward, although a few interesting results appeared. Denominational differences, not unexpectedly, reveal themselves in different levels of Jewish identity. In all of the models (with the exception of Model [2]), being Orthodox has a greater positive effect on identity than being Conservative or Reform. It is notable that a Secular background does not significantly impact a respondent's identity in a negative fashion; this variable demonstrates a similar relationship with the dependent variable as did being Conservative or Reform. Thus, denominational differences, though manifest, are not as important determinants of Jewishness as one might expect.

The factors and mechanisms that form women's Jewish identity vary considerably from those for Jewish men. Despite women's lower Jewish educational attainment, they are more likely to have higher Jewish identity scores than men. Models [1] through [4] show statistically significant positive relationships between being female and Jewish identity.¹³ As hypothesized, the mechanisms by which Jewish women consolidate their ethnic and religious identities are clearly different from those for men. The results correspond to what we know about religion in America, that generally, women participate more than men.

Expectations regarding generational background, age, and region are generally born out by the models--assimilation and living outside of the "Jewish regions" of America contribute to lessened religious identity. On the other hand, indicators of economic and educational success demonstrate interesting and unexpected patterns. When controlling for other factors, increasing secular education levels have a negligible effect on identity. This is a consistent result common to every model, indicating that the universalizing environment of academia neither positively nor negatively impacts the Jewishness of respondents. The income variable, on the other hand, was positively related to identity, contrary to the initial hypothesis. According to these results, measures of socioeconomic success and assimilation--such as greater wealth and higher educational attainment--do not correlate with a weakening of individual identity. This indicates that assimilation is an important but complex process with multi-faceted (i.e., not wholly negative) ramifications for the community.

Conclusion

The determinants and consequences of Jewish education for adults are extremely consistent and logical. The duration of enrollment in Jewish educational programs and the type of education experienced is largely a function of intermarriage, denomination

¹² A statistical note is needed here. This paper examines the determinants of Jewish education and then utilizes education as an independent variable in a model of Jewish identity. A complication arises because a number of the same independent variables (such as denomination, gender, generation, age, and region) are included in both regressions. Since the first regression shows correlations between these variables and religious training, when using training as a variable in the second regression, it contains the explanatory power not only of itself but also of those variables (denomination, gender, etc.). In a sense, then, those variables are given additional weight in the second regression in the guise of the Jewish education variable. This is a problem, but it is one inherent in the slippery nature of the subject matter, i.e., ethnic or religious identity.

¹³ The coefficients are negative, of course, because male is numerically defined as 1, female as 0.
raised, including ethnic-secular, as well as gender. In the analysis of Jewish identity, religious training plays a significant role in determining levels of Jewishness, while behavior such as synagogue attendance and trips to the Jewish state are also positive correlates. Gender is also an important variable. With a few exceptions, the multivariate regressions support and clarify the basic conclusions of the contingency table analysis.

Variables	Model 1 Years of	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	
	Formal Jewish Education Not Controlling for Type of Education	No. of Years of Day School as Formal Jewish Education	No. of Years of Part-Time Formal Education	No. of Years of Sunday School	No. of Years of Private Tutoring	
Orthodox	.18*	.35**	.05	.04	18	
Conservative	.07	19	.18	.14	25	
Reform	.03	25	05	.41*	29	
Secular	12	11	18	09	28	
Gender	.08	.21**	.18**	.03	.05	
Generation	01	23*	.14*	.06	.11	
Age	06	11	03	.00	.07	
Intermarriage of Parents	49***	48***	58***	41***	.04	
Region Born	.15**	.00	.02	.22**	.19*	
Converted		-	17 AP 44 4	-	.24*	
Constant	4.11***	5.1***	2.4*	.5	15	
Adjusted R ²	.29	.55	.40	.34	.04	

Reported results are standardized coefficients. P < .0001 ***, P < .005**. P < .05*.

	ele 23: Regression An Depender	it variables: Jewish	Tuentity muex		
Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5
Orthodox	.08*	.00	.09*	.09*	.12*
Conservative	.06	.20**	.04	.05	.11
Reform	.02	.13*	.03	.00	.08
Secular	.04	.15*	.05	.03	.03
Gender	07***	17***	09***	06*	07
Generation	05*	.03	07*	06	07
Age	.02	.05	.02	.02	.01
Jewish Education Of Any Type	.10***				•
Day School	-	.52***	-		170
Part-Time			.13***		•
Sunday School				.09*	
Private Tutor		* 🔺		*	.17**
Secular Education	.00	.05	+.01	.00	.00
Synagogue Attendance	.64***	.49***	.63***	.65***	.63**
Trips to Israel	.16***	05	.15***	.17***	.17**
Income	.10***	.11***	.10***	.10**	.08*
Region Born	03	.03	01	04	06
Constant	80	-2.6*	05	10	.17
Adjusted R ²	.63	.67	.63	.62	.64

The dependent variable remains the same for all four models: the Jewish identity index. Reported results are standardized coefficients. P < .0001***, P < .005**, P < .05*.

V. THE EDUCATION OF THE YOUNG

The 1990 National Jewish Population Survey, like the U.S. Census, inquired about children, thus permitting an analysis of the next generation's actual and planned exposure to Jewish learning. The survey included 1241 children in 801 households. This sample comprises both school-age (ages six through 17) and younger offspring (ages zero through five). The question dealing with Jewish education for the under-18 population differs from those for adults reported in the previous sections in that the former inquired whether the children had received formal Jewish education in the past year, while adult respondents were asked whether they had ever received formal Jewish education. Similar categories were used for the type of education, i.e., day schools, Sunday schools, etc. Parents who did not report offspring enrollment were then queried as to whether they expected to register their children in the future. As Table 24 indicates, one-fifth of the children were enrolled in school, while almost another quarter--23 percent--largely those under six, were expected to go sometime in the future. Over two-fifths, 44 percent, of all youth in Jewish households were not attending Jewish classes and were not expected to do so in the future. The future status of the remaining 12 percent is unclear. The proportion of parents who anticipate enrolling their children (identified as less than six-years-old) is less than half--40 percent--a troubling statistic for the community. Thirty-five percent said they would not send the children to Jewish schools, while the rest--24 percent--were uncertain (Table 26).

Table 24: Children's Enrollment Status in Formal Education in the Past Year (Percent)					
Enrolled in past year	21				
Not enrolled in past year, yet expect to enroll in future					
Not enrolled in past year, and will not enroll in future					
Do not know	12				

The children participating in Jewish training (one-fifth of the total) were fairly evenly divided as to the type of education they were receiving. Of those enrolled, 29 percent were in day school while 35 and 28 percent, respectively, attended part-time and Sunday school. Eight percent had a private tutor.

Table 25: Children 6-18 En the Past Year by Type of Ed	
Day School	29
Part-Time	35
Sunday School	28
Private Tutoring	8

The age of the older children did not markedly differentiate attendance in the past year. Given the emphasis on being confirmed at age 13, the natural expectation is that enrollment peaks at ages 12-13. It does in fact do so, but not to the degree expected. Almost half, 47 percent, of the former are receiving some sort of Jewish education. This is five percent more than among both the 11-year-old group and the 13-year-old cohort. Overall, the variations among those between six and 13 years of age are not striking. They do not increase steadily among older cohorts. As expected, however, they do go down sharply for those 14 and older.

	Attended In Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Tota
6 years	35	26	32	7	10
7 years	38	21	35	6	11
8 years	45	10	37	7	10
9 years	39	13	38	9	10
10 years	37	14	48	2	9
11 years	38	- 4	55	4	9
12 years	47	9	- 39 -	5	7
13 years	38	5	55	2	8
14 years	25	6	68	1	7
15 years	23	9	67	1	6
16 years	15	4	81		7
17 years	20	4	76	/	7
Column Total	34	11	50	4	100

What is perhaps most striking is that at every age a majority of young people are not obtaining any form of Jewish training (Table 26). Two-thirds of all those school age--66 percent--were not enrolled in 1990. And among those past the Bar/Bat Mitzvah age, around three-quarters are outside the Jewish educational system. These totals represent a decline, since "approximately 40 percent...were enrolled...in 1978/79." ¹⁴

Parents' expectation to register children who are under six years of age in Jewish education declines with increasing age of the children. Anticipation is highest for infants and lowest for those five through six years of age. This pattern is understandable since parents' plans for their children's education are relatively unrealistic when offspring are younger. The prospects for securing a Jewish education either solidify or weaken as children get closer to being enrolled in a particular type of education.

The major factors associated with children's actual or planned attendance are, as expected, the same as the correlates of parental education. Family educational background, denomination, Jewish identity, and intermarriage, are strongly associated with whether children secure or will be receiving Jewish religious training.

¹⁴ Waxman, America's Jews in Transition, p. 187.

Children's Ages	Expect to Enroll	Will Not Enroll	Do Not Know	Row Total
Under 1 year	50	30	20	17
1 year	45	37	18	18
2 years	46	40	14	17
3 years	41	31	27	15
4 years	35	32	32	17
5 years	23	41	36	16
Column Total	40	35	24	100

Thus, when both parents have had some formal Jewish education, 58 percent have enrolled or expect to enroll at least one child. The percentage of actual or planned attendance for children from families in which only one parent is Jewishly educated drops off to 32 percent. The proportions for the two groups who actually were attending Jewish educational programs when the interview occurred were 23 and nine percent, respectively. And only four percent of the households in which neither parent has a Jewish education reported enrolling at least one child, while another 14 percent said they expect their children to attend. The differences are similar among single-parent households. Two-fifths--42 percent--of the households in which the parent is Jewishly

Parents' Educational Status		Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Subtota	
Househol	ds with both	parents	63,	205/			
Yes-Yes Row		23	35	23	19	29	
	Column	57	41	14	33		
Yes-No	Row	9	23	50	17	46	
	Column	33	42	46	46		
No-No	Row	4	14	70	12	27	
	Column	10	15	40	21		
Column S	ubtotal	12	24	48	16	100	
Single Pa	rent Househo	old					
Yes	Row	18	24	50	10	40	
	Column	60	83	30	30		
No	Row	8	3	73	15	60	
	Column	40	17	70	70		
Column S	ubtotal	12	12	63	13	100	

trained, had at least one child enrolled or expected to do so. This is in contrast to the 11 percent of households in which the single parent had not received a Jewish education.

As hypothesized, the depth of parental Jewish education has a strong effect on the probabilities that children will receive Jewish training also. The more years a respondent has spent in Jewish institutions, the more likely it is that s/he will enroll his/her children in school. A less powerful relationship exists between type of education a parent had and that which his/her children are securing. Thus, as noted in Table 29, of those children in day school at the time of the NJPS, 43 percent had parents with a similar background. And of children enrolled in part-time/afternoon classes, 49 percent had a parent with a comparable experience. Thirty percent of the Sunday schoolers had a parent who went there as well. But of the children with a private tutor (an idiosyncratic form), eight percent had a parent with the same background.

	Children's Type of Jewish Education in Past Year (percent)					
Respondent's Type of Formal Jewish Education	Day School	Part-time	Sunday School	Private Tutor		
Day School	43	11	4	50.5		
Part-time	23	49	26	21		
Sunday School	13.5	14	30	2		
Private	21	10	8	8		
None		15.5	32	18		
Total	7	24	26	12		

The denominational background of the children's household is obviously a major determinant. As noted in Table 30, a large majority of the scions of the Orthodox--61 percent--had their children attend school during the past year, while another fifth--20 percent--expected to enroll their children. The proportions of young people among those

Table 30: Denomination of Children's Households by Children's Enrollment in Formal Jewish Education in the Past Year (Percent)							
	Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Total		
Orthodox	61	20	4	15	6		
Conservative	31	31	29	9	20		
Reform	32	34	27	11	27		
Mixed Jewish	37	19	41	7	3		
Ethnic-Secular Jew	11	20	62	6	12		
Jewish & Other (mostly ethnic-secular)	3	13	68	16	31		
Column Total	22	23	43	12	100		

of Conservative and Reform backgrounds who attended school were nearly identical, 31 to 32 percent. Reform supporters, however, were insignificantly less likely than Conservatives to say that their youth will not attend in the future. Around two-thirds of ethnic-secular Jewish families said that their children do not receive any Jewish education and are not foreseen to secure any in the future.

The effects of intermarriage and conversions out of Judaism may be seen in Table 31. Only four percent of the mixed households enrolled at least one child in Jewish schools in which the only Jewish parent is also identified denominationally. When the parent is ethnic-secular, only two percent did so. In fully Jewish households in which both parents are ethnic-seculars, no children were enrolled. Conversely, for those who did not and will not register their children, the figures are 24 percent for households with two religious Jews, 53 percent for the intermarried households with one religiously identified member, 66 percent for the Jewishly "mixed" religious and ethnic-secular households, 78 percent for households where the Jew in a mixed marriage is ethnic-secular, and 78 percent for households where both are ethnic-seculars.

		Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Subtota
Households with Bo	oth Parents					
Both	Row	26	35	24	16	39
Denominationally Jewish	Column	86	57	19	38	
Denominationally and Ethnic- secularly Jewish	Row		18	66	16	5
	Column		4	6	4	
Denominationally Jewish and	Row	4	22	53	21	33
Non-Jewish	Column	11	30	37	43	
Both Ethnic- secularly Jewish	Row	N2) -	14	78	8	4
	Column		3	7	2	
Ethnic-secularly Jewish and	Row	2	9	78	11	18
Non-Jewish	Column	3	7	30	12	
Column Subtotal		12	24	48	16	100
Single Parent House	eholds					_
Denominationally	Row	22	15	50	14	65
Jewish	Column	100	91	50	80	
Ethnic-secularly	Row	-	3	91	6	35
Jewish	Column	-	9	50	20	

Similar results were obtained in a smaller, earlier study among American Jews conducted in 1989 by the Israel Gallup poll for the Mandel Commission. Since the questions and sampling procedures for the Gallup poll vary from the NJPS, the findings are not directly comparable. Still, it may be noted that this study reported that 80 percent of the children with two Jewish parents had, at some point, attended day or supplementary schools (the only two choices offered), as compared to 22 percent of offspring of religiously mixed marriages.

The NJPS findings are particularly striking. Attendance is, by far, the greatest when both parents are denominationally identified. Among children aged 6 through 13, the proportion who attend or are expected to do so rises to 62 percent as reported in Table 32. They are also relatively high--44 percent--for single parent households. For intermarried families in which the Jewish parent is religiously linked, the proportion falls to seven percent enrolled, and to 24 percent who expect to do so. The estimates decline much further for mixed marriages involving an ethnic-secular Jew. Four percent of those parents have their children enrolled and 11 percent expect to do so. The situation is not better when one parent's identity is religious and the other is ethnic-secular. None of them had their children enrolled and only 16 percent planned to do so. Having two ethnic-secular Jewish parents produces a worse outcome in terms of enrollments than does intermarriage between a denominational Jew and a non-Jew. None of the children of

		Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Subtota
Household with both	Parents					
Both	Row	37	25	22	16	44
Denominationally Jewish	Column	86	53	20	65	
Denominationally	Row	Van 1	16	81	4	6
and Ethnic- secularly Jewish	Column	2	4	10	2	
Denominationally	Row	7	24	60	9	28
Jewish and Non-Jewish	Column	10	32	34	24	
Both are Ethnic- secularly Jewish	Row	-	5	85	11	4
	Column	·	1	7	4	
Ethnic-secularly	Row	4	11	82	2	17
Jewish and Non-Jewish	Column	3	9	29	4	
Column Subtotal		19	21	49	11	100
Single Parent House	holds					
Denominationally	Row	37	7	45	11	71
Jewish	Column	100	100	55	74	
Ethnic-secularly	Row		-	91	9	29
Jewish	Column		-	45	26	

		Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Subtota
Households with	th Both Paren	nts				
Both	Row	40	9	48	2	54
Religious Jews	Column	94	75	38	74	
Jew and	Row	1	4	89	7	7
Ethnic- secular Jew	Column		4	9	26	
Jew and	Row	5	2	94	-	24
Non-Jew	Column	6		33		
Both Ethnic- secular Jews	Row	-	-	100	-	4
	Column			6	-	
Ethnic-	Row	-	12	87	4	11
secular Jew and Non-Jew	Column		21	15	-	
Column Subtot	al	23		69	2	100
Single Parent H	louseholds			A		
Religious	Row	18	5	66	12	56
Jew	Column	100	65	49	82	
Ethnic-	Row		4	93	3	42
secular Jew	Column		35	51	18	
Column Subtot	al	10	4	77	8	100

the former are enrolled in Jewish education. Single parent religiously-identified households are more likely to educate their offspring in the Jewish tradition than all other combinations of family backgrounds except when both parents are denominationally-linked.

Other indicators of Jewish commitment produce the same results. The more the parents feel the importance of being a Jew, the more likely the children are to be counted in the ranks of those studying Judaism at present, or are expected to be when they reach school age. Of those who enroll their children, 78 percent think it is "very important," 20 percent "somewhat important," and three percent "not very important." None of those who feel it is not important have registered a child. Conversely, as indicated in Table 34, 87 percent of those parents who do not and will not enroll a child feel that being Jewish is "not important," compared to less than a quarter--24 percent--of those who think it "very important."

		Percent)	1	
	Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know
Not Important	-		87	13
Not Very Important	2	6	82	10
Somewhat Important	6	29	48	17
Very Important	23	43	24	11
Column Total	11	28	48	13

The relationship between synagogue attendance by adults of a household and a child's enrollment in Jewish education is strong. Only 13 percent of parents who never attend services have children enrolled or expect to send them later (Table 35). For those who participate from one to three times a year, the proportion rises to 31 percent (three percent enrolled and 28 expected to be), while among families who partake more than three times a year, the actual and expected enrollment jumps to 54 percent (23 percent enrolled).

1	Not at All	Less Than Three Times	More Than Three Times	Row Total
Attended in Past Year	2	3	23	13
Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	11	28	31	26
Did Not and Will Not Attend	73	50		45
Do Not Know	13	20	16	16
Column Total	29	15	56	100

The survey inquired of those parents whose children under 18 are not currently enrolled or are not expected to be enrolled in the future: "What is the major reason you do not expect to enroll [name of child] in a program of formal Jewish education?" Responses were grouped into 11 categories (Table 36). One-tenth--11 percent--reported a child now in non-Jewish religious education, while slightly fewer--eight percent--said they are planning to enroll their offspring in the future in non-Jewish schools. Another nine percent did not qualify as candidates because they were too young, too old, or had sufficient education. Over a fifth, 22 percent, of the respondent parents said they were not interested, while another 12 percent thought their child was not interested. Only four percent reported that Jewish education was too expensive for them.

Relating the reasons given to indicators of family, Jewish identity produces a clearer picture, although the amorphous category of "other," which includes over one-quarter of the responses, confuses the issue. However, the pattern is still fairly consistent with expectation (see Table 37). A tenth--11 percent--of parents reporting that their child(ren)

Reason Category	Percent
Too young	4
Too old	1
Has sufficient Jewish education	4
Parents uninterested	22
Child uninterested	12
Schools are too expensive	4
Schools are too far away	4
Schools are poor quality	1
Now in non-Jewish religious education	11
Will enroll in future in non-Jewish schools	8
Other	28
Total	100

has sufficient education or is too old to continue are religiously identified Jews married to religiously identified Jews (J-J). The proportion approaches zero for the various categories of ethnic-secular or intermarried families. Why do some children of school age of the religiously identified not attend? The most common response is, by far, lack of interest, either by the parent (26 percent) or by the child (26 percent). Relatively few complain that Jewish schools are too expensive (four percent), too far away (four percent), or of poor quality (one percent). It is interesting to note that ethnic-secular Jews are more likely than the religiously identified to account for non-enrollment by citing cost or distance. The negative import of intermarriage seems again obvious. Close to 30 percent of parents with non-enrolled children explained the failure to give their children a Jewish education by the fact that their offspring were receiving a non-Jewish education, or that they expected to place them in a non-Jewish religious school. This group of parents were also the most disposed to give responses which have been coded as "other" under current religion.

Parents	Too Young	Too Old to Continue	Have had Sufficient Jewish Education	Parents Not Interested	Child Not Interested	School Too Expensive	School Too Far	Poor Quality School	Now in Non- Jewish Education	Future Non- Jewish Education	Other	Row Total
Households with	both parent	5		A	MERIC	AN IEV	NISH					
1-1	3	5	6	26	26	4	E 30	1	0	0	27	21
J-ESJ			14	18	7	16	13		11	0	21	6
ESJ-ESJ				16	8	7			19	13	36	35
J-NJ	1			42	20	1.12-12	8	-	0	0	29	7
ESJ-NJ	7			24	3	- 1	6	3	14	13	30	30
Column Total	4	3	2	22	9	4	4	3	12	9	28	100
Single Parent H	ousehold				de	_	- 54					
J) - (-	2	35	19	2	. 9.	0		31	44
ESJ					71	bon-V	-		6		22	55
Column Total	-			40	17	9	1		6		26	100

Key: J = Religiously Identified Jew ESJ = Ethnic-secular Jew NJ = Non-Jew

43

A consistent pattern emerges when parents are differentiated by whether they have had formal Jewish education or not. The main reasons given for the failure to enroll their children by parents who were themselves Jewishly educated are lack of interest by the child (20 percent) and by the parents (33 percent). Over 90 percent of the non-attendees have one or both parents who did not receive a religious education. Those parents most commonly say that their child is not Jewish or that they (the parents) are not interested in giving their child(ren) a Jewish education.

	P	arent Education	on	Row
Reason Category	Yes-Yes	Yes-No	No-No	Total
Too Young	4	1	7	4
Too Old	4	1	0	1
Have Had Sufficient Jewish Education	13	2	4	4
Parents Not Interested	33	16	24	22
Child Not Interested	20	9	12	11
School Too Expensive	0	-3	5	4
Schools Too Far	4	5	6	5
Poor Quality Schools	0	3	0	1
Now in Non-Jewish Education	0	18	7	11
Future Non-Jewish Education	2	8	7	7
Other	19	33	26	28
Column Total	14	45	41	100

Asking respondents why they do or do not act in a certain way does not necessarily reveal the "true" reasons for their actions.¹⁵ It is more fruitful to compare indicators of behavior or position which logically may affect the propensity for Jewish education. The survey permits the examination of some possible sources such as the region of the country people are living in, geographic mobility, and family income. Recent relocations have negative effects on enrollment in Jewish educational institutions. The children of the respondents who have moved to another community since 1984 are less likely to attend Jewish schools than those in non-mobile families. Similar to the findings for the parental generation, children living in the West and South are less prone to be enrolled in Jewish education, or, if under six, less likely to be intended for enrollment than those in the Northeast and Midwest. There appears to be a very positive relationship between the Jewishness of the district a family lives in and the enrollment of children in Jewish schools. As indicated in Table 39, 52 percent of the children living in what the respondent described as a very Jewish neighborhood are enrolled or are expected to be;

¹⁵ Paul Lazarsfeld, "The Art of Asking Why," National Marketing Review, 1 (1935), pp. 32-43, reprinted in Lazarsfeld, Qualitative Analysis: Historical and Political Essays (Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 1972).

Neighborhood	Attended in Past Year	Expect to Enroll, Yet Did Not Attend	Did Not and Will Not Attend	Do Not Know	Row Total
Very Jewish	21	31	24	23	7
Somewhat Jewish	17	24	41	18	22
Little Jewish	13	26	46	14	30
Not Jewish	7	21	58	14	41
Column Total	12	24	48	16	100

conversely 58, a slightly larger percentage, of those residing in an entirely non-Jewish area are not so registered or are not expected to be in the future. The figure for a "somewhat Jewish" neighborhood is 41 percent and for "a little Jewish" neighborhood 39 percent. This relationship, however, may be an artifact of self-selection. The more Jewish Jews are, the more likely they are to seek to dwell among their fellows, while those with little or no commitments may prefer to reside among Gentiles or are indifferent as to the ethno-religious character of the neighborhood.

Finally, the evidence indicates that in spite of what the respondents say, economic factors appear to play a role in determining parental behavior with respect to their children's attendance at religious schools. The cost of such an education is rarely given as a reason for not sending children to a Jewish school, but of those who attend, more children come from the higher income levels. Although Jewish identity--conformity to rituals--is stronger among the less affluent than the well-to-do, the latter are more disposed to have their children receive some Jewish education. As indicated in Table 40, more than half--58 percent--of those with a family income of under \$40,000 a year neither send or expect to send their offspring for Jewish education. Conversely, less than half, 45 percent of those with annual incomes of \$80,000 or more do. There is a linear relationship between income and propensity to send children for religious education.

Family Income	Are Attending	Expect to Attend	Neither Attend or Expect To	Do Not Know
Under \$40,000	7	21	58	14
\$40 - \$50,000	15	13	52	21
\$50 - \$60,000	12	24	48	16
\$60 - \$80,000	15	27	43	14
\$80,000 +	14	26	45	15

The findings reported point out both the weakness and power of Jewish education. The power is reflected in the finding that those who have received Jewish training are disposed to transmit their heritage through formally educating their children. The weakness refers to the fact that most children in the sample between six and 13 years of age were not exposed to Jewish education during the past year (Table 32). These figures decline sharply for parents with children between 14 and 18 years of age, and, as noted earlier, only 40 percent of parents with children under six state that they have definite expectations to enroll them (Tables 31 and 33). Given the growing rates of intermarriage among young people and the extremely low proportion of the children of mixed marriages who are sent to Jewish schools, the proportions of children of some Jewish parentage who are exposed to such education should be much lower a decade from now.



VI. MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS OF YOUTH RESPONDENTS

Like the earlier multivariate analyses, this section seeks to confirm and further specify the determinants of formal Jewish education, although, in this case, for youth respondents only. The methodology for these regression models is identical to that used in examining the data for adult respondents.¹⁶

Data and Variables

The regressions utilize five different measures of Jewish education as dependent variables: 1) years of formal Jewish training not controlling for the type of education 2) years of day school 3) of part-time school 4) of Sunday school, and 5) of private tutoring. The independent variables for each of these models include denomination (if any) of the respondent's household (Orthodox, Conservative, Reform, or Secular), gender (male=1, female=0), synagogue attendance (never=1 to weekly=4), Jewish education of parents (yes=1, no=0), income of household, intermarriage of respondent's parents (both parents Jewish=1, intermarried=2), current region (Northeast=1, Midwest=2, West=3, South=4), Jewishness of respondent's neighborhood (very Jewish=1 to not Jewish=4), and length of residence (always lived at current residence=1 to lived at residence 5 years or less=5).

Hypotheses

In general, it is expected that the pattern of relationships will be similar to that found for adult respondents, with some exceptions. Denominational background should again demonstrate a strong relationship with propensity to seek religious training, with Orthodox being the most--and Secular the least--predisposed. Intermarriage, an indicator of assimilation, should be negatively related. Parents with a higher Jewish educational background and income are expected to be associated with a longer duration of religious training for their children. Both of these variables were unavailable in the case of adult respondents and are of particular interest because they provide evidence regarding the generational continuity of religious training and the importance of economic resources in securing training. Specifically, greater resources should be related to greater duration of religious education, and having parents who themselves have underwent some training should increase the likelihood of their children being so trained. Living outside of the traditional concentrations of Jewish communities (i.e., the Northeast and, to an extent, the Midwest) should show a negative effect on the duration and type of education. Two new demographic variables have been included in this analysis of the children's data. As suggested in the bivariate tables, increasing geographic mobility (i.e., shorter length of residence) is anticipated to be negatively related to education. This is because frequent moving tends to disrupt educational patterns. Also, respondents who live in neighborhoods which they categorize as very Jewish are likely to secure more religious training than those who live in neighborhoods that are not very Jewish. Finally, gender is expected to show a different relationship from the one exhibited in the adult models. In recent years, the gender gap in Jewish education has been narrowing, with girls increasingly participating in contrast to past patterns.

¹⁶ See p. 28 for a detailed description.

Results: Determinants

As with the adult respondents, denomination plays a significant role in explaining both duration and type of formal Jewish education received. Most important, however, is the educational history of the parents of the youth respondents. Children of Jews with formal religious training are much more likely to be enrolled in some type of training themselves. Surprisingly, intermarriage does not reveal a strong negative association with education, as it did in the case of the adults. The complete results from Models [1] through [5] are presented in Table 41.

In Model [1], where type of schooling has not been controlled for, being Orthodox explains considerable variation in the dependent variable, with a standardized coefficient of .16. Contrary to the adult respondents, being Conservative or Reform has virtually no effect on the likelihood of receiving training. Living in a Secular household has an expected negative impact. Controlling for the type of education, different denominations again relate differently to the various types, although the relationships are not as clear and predictable as in the models for the adults. For Model [2], being Conservative or Reform shows a negative relationship (both have betas of -.36) with years of day school, as is the case for adults. However, the effect of being raised in an Orthodox household for this most recent generation of Jewish youth is meager. The beta weight of .00 reveals that the strength of this denomination in shaping educational patterns is waning. With a beta weight of .06, being Conservative is a minor predictor of part-time school attendance, although, relative to the other denomination variables, it is the only one to at least have a positive relationship. In Model [4], years of Sunday school is most strongly influenced by being raised in a Reform household (.36), but interestingly, the difference between Conservative and Secular households is minor by this measure. Both have small but positive betas--.05 for Conservative and .02 for Secular. Orthodox, who remain disproportionately enrolled in day school, are negatively disposed to this type of education.

The most powerful factor affecting the dependent variable in virtually every model is the fact of the parents of respondents having underwent some form of religious training in their youth. In Models [1] through [4], the variable for the Jewish education of parents has betas of .56, .68, .66, and .79 respectively. Clearly, a history of formal training is important in increasing the probability that Jewish youth secure their own Jewish education.

As predicted by the bivariate tables, household income is shown to be an important determinant of duration of training, once the type of training has been controlled for. Economic resources are relatively more important in the propensity to secure day school education (.23), the most expensive form of religious training, than in the likelihood of attending part-time school (.11) and, in turn, Sunday school (.02). Also as expected, synagogue attendance reveals a small but consistently positive impact on the duration of education.

One of the most interesting results of this multivariate analysis is the relative insignificance of the intermarriage variable, a factor which played an important role in explaining variance in the education models for adult respondents. In the day school model, intermarriage reveals the expected, substantively large negative relationship with the dependent variable. However, in Models [1], [3], and [4], being raised by religiously-mixed parents has either a small negative effect on years of education or no

effect at all. This is in contrast to the strong and statistically significant negative relationship born out in virtually every model for the adult respondents. Relative to older Jews in the NJPS sample, this measure of assimilation appears to be of less significance in negatively affecting the educational enrollment of this recent generation of Jewish youth. One explanation for this finding concerns the stigma attached to marrying outside of the religion. For older generations, choosing to marry a non-Jew often meant a clear break with the faith and sometimes family as well. Intermarriage for more recent generations has become more accepted, more tolerated. Thus, intermarried couples are still less Jewish in terms of religious identity, but it is now easier for them to remain a part of the community, which includes enrolling their children in less rigorous forms of religious training. A non-Jewish intermarried parent is under less pressure to raise his/her children as Christian than in the past.

The role of gender also illuminates the changing relationship between Jews and education. Whereas in the adult regressions being male increased the likelihood of receiving more years of training, data for the youth respondents show the opposite gender effect. Being a Jewish girl lengthened the duration of training in the day school (-.05) and part time school (-.02) models, while only the Sunday school model demonstrated a minor advantage for boys (.02).

The nature of the NJPS questions for the child respondents allows a detailed examination into the effect of certain geographic and demographic factors, including region, geographic mobility, and the Jewishness of a respondent's neighborhood. Of these three variables, only geographic mobility performed as hypothesized, but the role of all three in determining years of formal education is minor compared to other covariates. As in the adult analysis, the region variable has an ambiguous effect on the duration of different forms of Jewish training. The hypothesis regarding the importance of being born in regions of traditional concentrations of Jewish communities and institutions is not supported by the regression results, with the notable exception of the day school model. Positive betas in the models for part-time (.00) and Sunday school (.23) models closely resemble the unexpected pattern of the region variable in the adult analysis. As noted, region has the hypothesized negative effect only in the case of determining years of day school attendance, a result which makes sense since these institutions require a larger immediate Jewish community and greater resources to support them than the less intensive forms of education. These institutions are often Orthodox, since their members may not ride on Saturday, and therefore are obligated to live within walking distance of a synagogue.

The region variable for the multivariate analysis of the youth respondents possesses the same flaws noted above in the multivariate section on the adults. A more precise indicator of the concentration of Jews and Jewish institutions in an area is a respondent's perception of the Jewishness of their particular neighborhood. However, the association revealed by the regression results again disagrees with the initial hypothesis. After controlling for the type of training, living in a less Jewish neighborhood reveals a small but positive association with more years of religious education. From the results of both the youth and adult multivariate analyses, it is clear that living in a particular region represents neither an encouragement or discouragement to secure education. Finally, bivariate analysis indicated the importance of putting down roots in a neighborhood for an extended period of time. And indeed increasing geographic mobility is negatively related to the different types of religious training (with the exception of part-time school), but the relative significance of this variable is marginal.

The final model in Table 22 examines the determinants of the duration of private tutoring for youth respondents. Being raised in any denomination has a consistent and strong negative effect on the likelihood of receiving this type of education. Although, a Secular orientation has a small positive relationship. The strongest relationship is revealed to be the positive impact of the parents of the children having secured some Jewish education, with a large beta of .89. Interestingly, intermarriage is a positive covariate, and indeed Model [5] is the only model in which being raised in a mixed household increases the propensity for formal religious education. Not surprisingly, greater income is associated with more tutoring. The three demographic variables demonstrate interesting relationships with the dependent variable. The less Jewish the neighborhood, the fewer years of private tutoring. This result might be explained by the relative scarcity of such tutors in non-Jewish areas. Living outside of the traditionally Jewish regions in America is strongly and positively related to more years of tutoring. Again, this could be because of the lack of institutions (i.e., synagogues and Jewish schools) in such areas relative to the Northeast, for instance.

Finally, it should be noted that, as in the adults' regressions, once the type of education had been controlled for, the fit of the models for youth respondents improved. Model [1] had a total variance explained of .56. The R2 rose to .86 once Model [2] controlled for day school graduates and was .70 and .86 for the part-time and Sunday school models respectively.

Table 41: Regr	Dependent Vari	able: No. of Year	s of Formal Jewi	inants for Youth Re sh Education	espondents
Variables	Model 1 Years of Formal Jewish Education Not Controlling for Type of Education	<u>Model 2</u> No. of Years of Day School as Formal Jewish Education	<u>Model 3</u> No. of Years of Part-Time Formal Education	Model 4 No. of Years of Sunday School	<u>Model 5</u> No. of Years of Private Tutoring
Orthodox	.16***	.00	11*	09*	32***
Conservative	02	36***	.06	.05	32***
Reform	.00	36***	10	.36***	40***
Secular	08	18***	18**	.02	.05
Gender	02	05*	02	.02	.08*
Synagogue Attendance	.16***	.09***	.16***	.05*	06*
Jewish Education of Parents	.56***	.68***	.66***	.79***	.89***
Income of Parents	.00	.23***	.11***	.02	.21***
Intermarriage of Parents	04	37***	.00	04	.18***
Jewishness of Neighborhood	09*	.06*	.03	.02	-19***
Current Region	.09**	18***	.00	.23***	.33***
Geographic Mobility	04	06*	.07*	06**	.01
Constant	11.55***	26.74***	8.7***	13.14**	9.5***
Adjusted R ²	.56	.86	.70	.86	.80

Reported results are standardized coefficients. P < .0001 ***, P < .005**. P < .05*.

The Future: College Students and the Campus

A discussion of educational trends among the Jewish community and particularly its youth would be incomplete without mention of the importance of higher education. Secular education has complex consequences for Jewish identity and continuity. On the one hand, higher levels of education correlate positively with Jewish training. Yet, as I will argue, the two types of learning environments have opposite effects on one's Jewishness. However, even though higher education should logically weaken commitment to the community through its emphasis on universalistic values, the geographic concentration of young Jews in higher learning institutions presents an opportunity for them to meet, and for organizations such as Hillel to reach students, at the same time as the university environment weakens their particularistic religious norms.

The linkage of Jewish to secular education is linear. That is, the more Jewish learning a person has received, the more likely s/he is to have an extended higher education. The lowest level of Jewish attendance is among those who have not completed high school. Only 51 percent of them have had any Jewish education. Conversely, 74 percent of all college graduates without post-graduate work, and 80 percent of those who have some--or have completed--graduate education, have had some Jewish training. The relationship is more consistent for women than for men.

		nt)	
	Men	Women	Total
Some High School - High School Graduate	61	41	51
Some College	81	56	68
College Graduate	84	65	74
Graduate School	87	73	80

Not surprisingly, the relationship between Jewish and secular education is similar when attained degrees are considered. Four-fifths of those with graduate degrees have had some Jewish training as compared to 51 percent for those whose only diploma is from high school. Those with the least secular attainments (less than grade 12) report the highest population of day school attenders, 11 percent, probably reflecting the behavior of some Orthodox. But there is no relationship between the two forms of education for the rest of the respondents, differentiated by extent of secular education from high school onward. The proportions going to day school are roughly the same for all groups from those with a high school diploma to persons with post-graduate training. Attendance at afternoon classes, however, increases steadily with secular education, moving up from 21 percent among those with high school diplomas to 39 percent among those with a bachelor's degree, and 47 percent for persons who went on to post-graduate work. Sunday school peaks among college graduates at 24 percent, but drops off to 21 percent among those who attended graduate school.

Ironically, Jewish education achievements may be a major source of the long-term trends that are undermining Jewish continuity. As noted, attendance at higher educational

institutions is commonplace among young people. According to the Population Survey, more than five-sixths--87 percent--of religiously identified Jews who are 18 to 24 years of age have been to college. College attendance rates for Jews have remained constant since the 1970 NJPS.¹⁷ For all Jews, religious or secular, it is the same. But as is well known, higher education--particularly in the leading liberal arts colleges and research universities where Jews tend to be disproportionately represented--is the most universalistic institution in the country with respect to attitudes toward ethnic particularism and religious identification and practice. A basic belief in this environment is that students should not "discriminate" according to religious and/or ethnic criteria with respect to dating and mating. This norm is strongest among the more politically liberal segment of the population, one which disproportionally includes Jews. It may be hypothesized, and perhaps even assumed, therefore, that a major source of the extremely high rate of intermarriage is the pattern of attendance by Jews at colleges and universities. Education makes for higher income and status, more culture, and greater influence, but it is also associated ultimately with lesser involvement in the Jewish community, although low income may be an even greater barrier to participation.

The college students exhibit a low resistance to intermarriage. Less than a quarter--22 percent--indicate that they would oppose or strongly oppose a child of theirs marrying a non-Jew (seven percent strongly), while 62 percent would support or strongly support such an action (17 percent strongly). The remaining 15 percent say that they would "accept" intermarriage. Not surprisingly, the proportions accepting or supporting intermarriage increase when the question is posed in terms of a spouse who converts to Judaism. Although these figures are discouraging, they are similar to the 16 percent response pattern of all Jewish adults with regard to opposition to intermarriage. The whole sample, however, exhibits much less support--33 percent--than the students' 62 percent.

	If a Child Considers Marrying a Non-Jew	If the Potential Spouse Will Convert
Strongly Support	17	39
Support	45	12
Accept	15	38
Oppose	15	10
Strongly Oppose	7	
Do Not Know		

Yet, as indicated in the multivariate analysis, "increasing secular education levels have a negligible effect on identity. These findings conflict with the frequently voiced impression and logical deduction that secularly educated Jewish youth are less attached

¹⁷ Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," p. 111.

to Jewishness or to Israel than their elders. The evidence and logic are clearly contradictory. Since the Population Survey only included 88 students in its sample, 73 undergraduates and 15 graduates, it is impossible to seek to resolve the contradictions through further analysis. Hopefully these questions will be dealt with by future researchers.

On the positive side, three-quarters of students interviewed in the Population Survey reported a denominational affiliation: 31 percent Conservative, 36 percent Reform, and eight percent Orthodox. The proportion identified, however, is 13 percent lower than that of their parental families, from 88 percent to 75. Or conversely, one-fourth of the students are secular compared to 11 percent of their parents. Slightly over half--53 percent--had no Jewish education, compared to 64 percent among those over 25 who had been to college. In terms of gender, this breaks down to 73 percent for males and 59 for females for all Jews who have been to college. Men were less likely to have had a confirmation ceremony--42 percent--than women--58 percent. The best indication of continued Jewish religiosity is that close to half of the students--42 percent--said they fast on Yom Kippur. Thirty-six percent said that they have personally belonged to a synagogue. None believe that the "Bible is the actual word of God," while four percent refrain from handling money on the Sabbath.

Table 44: Den ar	d Parents	orudena
tt	Students	Parents
Orthodox	8	10
Conservative	31	41
Reform	36	37
Secular	25	11

The campus is particularly important for the Jewish community. It is easier to reach Jews in the university environment to make them aware of the Jewish message, existence, and activities, than to find the unaffiliated anywhere else. Campus organizations can do this more easily than other organizations dealing with the general population. Students can be written to, personally contacted, leafletted, and the like. Hence, even the completely secular who have never partaken of any formal activity--educational or other--will hear about Hillel or other Jewish groups. For the great majority, to take part in them or to attend services is physically easier than it has ever been before they came to college or ever will be after they leave.

Therefore, Hillel and other Jewish campus organizations are potentially one of the most important forces for Jewish continuity. Yet the findings of this study indicate that they have only been effective for a small minority, that most students are not deeply involved in Jewish activities, and that on average, they are less committed than their parents. Only 21 percent of the 88 students in the Population Survey reported that they

had taken part in any Jewish educational program during the past year. A more limited survey conducted by Israel Gallup in 1989 sampled identified American Jews and found that 21 percent of college-aged children took part in Hillel programs, while an overlapping 15 percent belonged to other Jewish student groups. Twenty-two percent of those interviewed reported belonging to at least one Jewish organization. Less than one in ten--eight percent--volunteered during the past 12 months for a Jewish organization.



54

VII. CONCLUSION

Concern over the state of religious education and its relationship to the continuity of the community is not a new phenomenon. Jewish immigrants of the nineteenth century were unable to replicate the extensive system of religious schools that existed in Europe. Referring to the Northeast in particular, Glazer writes: "The established American Jewish community offered no model for Jewish education. Following the collapse of the synagogue schools of the 1850s under competition from the public schools, the established synagogues of New York had limited themselves to Sunday or Sabbath schools...."18 The weakness of Jewish education was a persistent worry for later generations of German Jews. And as Irving Howe points out, "The Yiddish press during the early years of the [twentieth] century constantly laments the condition of Jewish education."" Headlines such as "Jews Neglect Jewish Education and Blame America" were not uncommon in publications such as Tageblatt. Following up on similar findings by Mordecai Kaplan eight years earlier, a 1919 survey by Alexander Dushkin found that "only 65,000 out of an estimated 275,000 Jewish children of school age were receiving Jewish instruction at any given time ²⁰ In the early 1900s, much as today, the focus of criticism was on the quality of the Jewish training that the young were receiving, as well as the limited numbers receiving it. With many living in poverty and possessing limited community resources, Jews in America were still struggling to break through the barriers of anti-Semitism to enter the ranks of the middle class and beyond. In 1993, their affluent descendants are concerned about the numbers who are not involved in any form of Jewish education and are defecting from the community--particularly through intermarriage.

Ironically, contemporary Jews have to worry whether their community will survive, not because of its enemies, but because the larger environment is too friendly, not sufficiently hostile. The walls of anti-Semitism, which once held Jews within the fold, have largely crumbled.²¹ There is nothing to stop them from walking out. The status barriers which identify marriage with a Jew as a step down for a non-Jew no longer exist. Many non-Jews, particularly the well-educated among them, often view Jews as part of a superior culture, defined in educational and intellectual terms. In Europe, when Jews married non-Jews, the Jew almost invariably converted to Christianity, or at any rate, dropped all his or her affiliations to Judaism. Here, the opposite is true. Intermarried Jews on the whole remain identified as Jews, although with less commitment to the religion and the community, while, as noted, a minority of non-Jews convert and another considerable portion of them identify their family as Jewish. These developments have

¹⁸ Nathan Glazer, American Judaism (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1957), p. 71.

¹⁹ Howe, World of Our Fathers, p. 202. See also, Waxman, America's Jews in Transition, pp. 52-3 and Charles E. Silberman, A Certain People: American Jews and Their Lives Today (New York: Summit Books, 1985), pp. 173-174.

²⁰ Howe, World of Our Fathers, p. 202. For New York City, there was a modest rise in participation between the mid-1930s when 25 percent of Jewish children of elementary school age attended Jewish schools and 1955 when the figure had increased to 31 percent. According to Glazer, the increase was attributable to the increased activity of the

²¹ See Gregory Martire and Ruth Clark, Anti-Semitism in the United States (New York: Praeger, 1982), pp. 113-19 and Lipset, "A Unique People in an Exceptional Country," pp. 16-18.

led the so called "optimists" within the Jewish community to argue that intermarriage results in an increase of the number of self-identified Jews in the country. There is some evidence that this may be true in the short-run, but in the long run, it is not. The children of the intermarried are very loosely affiliated, if at all, uneducated Jewishly, and even more likely to marry non-Jews than birth-right Jews, so their children--while perhaps aware of their background--will have no communal commitment. As Sidney Goldstein notes, of the children of intermarried couples, only 25 percent were being raised as Jews, while the remaining cohort was either being raised in another faith or without any religion at all.²² The membership and financial problems faced by the American Jewish Committee, the American Jewish Congress, B'nai Brith and ADL attest to the effects of these developments.

Beyond the impact of anti-Semitism, the changing relationship of American Jewry to Israel is important. Clearly, hundreds of thousands, if not more, have become deeply involved in communal activities because of their interest and commitment to the Jewish state. Much of the activity of the community has been related to Israel. This has been true for the so called "defense organizations," the American Jewish Committee, the ADL, and the American Jewish Congress, as well as the local Jewish communal federations. Hillel, the main organization on campus, devotes a great deal of its activity to Israel. Synagogue and temple-affiliated groups are Israel oriented. The link to Israel, however, has been declining, especially among younger Jews. As with anti-Semitism, what has kept many Jews involved in Israel-oriented activities is concern about security, about the fact that the state has remained for so long a pariah nation, facing a military threat. But as of now, there is some reason to believe that this situation will end. Israel's Arab neighbors and the Palestinians are revealing a willingness to accept the Jewish state, to end the conflict by trading land for peace. Clearly this chapter of history is not written yet, but possible reactions of the American Jewry to something resembling a real peace might entail lessened interest in the Jewish state, reduced financial contributions, lesser participation in communal activities designed to help Israel in welfare, economic and political terms, and as a consequence less identification with Judaism. The discussion about a possible merger of the U.J.A. and the C.J.F. reflect a concern on the part of their leadership about decline.

The problems of Jewry in the former Soviet Union still offer a cause to rally around. A great deal of activity and money has been dedicated, collected to help Soviet Jews resettle in Israel or elsewhere. There is foreboding about the future of the Jews left in the former Soviet areas. But still, their prospects there are reasonably good. In any case, the evidence suggests that this cause is not at all comparable to those of anti-Semitism or Israeli security as motives to take part in Jewish activities.

Beyond the conditions which affect the commitment of Jews to their community, it is necessary to emphasize the consequences of demographic factors. Jews have a very low birth rate, even less than most other extremely educated and well-to-do urban groups. Jews simply are not reproducing themselves. The one major exception, which also does not adhere to the generalization about high intermarriage rates is, of course, the Orthodox. But they constitute somewhere around seven percent of the total American Jewish population, that is about 300,000 people. They have very large families, but those

²² Goldstein, "Profile of American Jewry," p. 127.

who rely on them to reproduce or expand Jewry forget that in America, as in days gone by in eastern Europe, a significant minority of Orthodox young people do not stay Orthodox. The estimates for drop-outs by youth from Orthodoxy, though not from Judaism, run as high as one-third. All the indicators suggest the economic and social integration of Jews will continue.

In the future, as in the past, the great majority of Jews will be born into the faith. The basic problem for the community is and will be to hold them, to keep them Jewish. The most important means to do this is education. The findings reported here indicate that the longer and more intensive the Jewish training, the more likely people are to be committed to and practice Judaism.23 But many drop out. In any case, as documented here, the main factors which determine school exposure are linked to family background. We obviously should try to develop better educational techniques, recruit more sophisticated educators and provide a more meaningful social and physical environment for Jewish youth. We should also recognize that such improvements will not stop the decline. For all except the Orthodox, improving the content of Jewish education--what is taught--is more important than the technical factors which can be improved with more money. And here most of the Jewish community is at a loss. They, themselves, are not religiously observant, much less so than most Christians. They do not believe in the Torah. Yet, the schools are expected to teach the children what their parents basically reject by their actions. Beyond religion, America's universalistic openness undermines the message of ethnic particularism. The intermarriage rate will grow. Hence, while we must do what we can to reach out to those weakly committed, we must concentrate on the dedicated "remnant." There is, of course, the alternative of formulating a new secularized curriculum which corresponds to the way of life of most Jewish parents. But that is another topic, a different agenda.

²³ For earlier results, see Harold S. Himmelfarb, The Impact of Religious Schooling: The Effects of Jewish Education upon Adult Religious Involvement (Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Sociology, University of Chicago, 1975).

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Seymour Martin Lipset is the Hazel Professor of Public Policy at George Mason University, Senior Scholar at the Wilstein Institute, and a Senior Fellow of the Hoover Institution at Stanford University. He is a past president of the American Political Science and the American Sociological Associations and has been elected to membership in the major academic honorific societies, the National Academy of Sciences, the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and the American Philosophical Society. Among his honorary degrees are four from Jewish institutions: the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, the University of Judaism in Los Angeles, Hebrew Union College of Cincinnati, and Boston Hebrew College. He received the first Marshall Sklare Award for contributions to Jewish studies from the Association for the Social Scientific Study of Jewry in 1993. He has served as Chairperson of the National Faculty Cabinet of the United Jewish Appeal, the National Commission of the B'nai Brith Hillel Foundation and as President of the American Professors for Peace in the Middle East. He has also been the Co-Chairperson of the Executive Committee of the International Center for Peace in the Middle East. Together with Earl Raab, he has recently completed a book on the American Jewish Community which will be published early in 1995.



The Susan and David Wilstein Institute of Jewish Policy Studies, an independent research center based at the University of Judaism in Los Angeles and at Hebrew College in Boston, seeks to strengthen Jewish decision-making by adding to the community's fund of information and its analytical skills. It conducts sustained research and policy analysis in a variety of areas of Jewish and general concern and disseminates findings to all levels of the Jewish community and, when appropriate, to the larger community as well.

The Susan and David Wilstein Institute of Jewish Policy Studies

University of Judaism 15600 Mulholland Drive Los Angeles, CA 90077 (310) 476-9777 FAX: (310) 471-3657 Hebrew College 43 Hawes Street Brookline, MA 02146 (617) 232-8710 FAX: (617) 734-9769 The University of Judaism



15600 Mulholland Drive Los Angeles, California 90077 310/476-9777

AP\$2195



Jennie Levi 4500 Euclid Ave Cleveland, OH 44103